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Suntech of Connecticut, Inc. v. Lawrence Brunoli, Inc.

SUNTECH OF CONNECTICUT, INC. v. LAWRENCE
BRUNOLI INC., ET AL.
SC 19970

Robinson, C. J., and Palmer, Mullins, Kahn and Ecker, Js.

Argued September 18—officially released October 16, 2018
Procedural History

Action to recover damages for, inter alia, breach of
contract, brought to the Superior Court in the judicial
district of Hartford and tried to the court, Wahla, J.;
judgment for the defendants, from which the plaintiff
appealed to the Appellate Court, Lavine, Beach and
Bishop, Js., which affirmed the judgment of the trial
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court, and the plaintiff, on the granting of certification,
appealed to this court. Appeal dismissed.

Matthew T. Wax-Krell, with whom, on the brief, were
Lawrence G. Rosenthal and Denise Lucchio, for the
appellant (plaintiff).

Margaret Fogerty Rattigan, with whom were P. Jo
Anne Burgh and, on the brief, Bradford R. Carver,
Marissa I. Delinks and Valerie N. Doble, for the appel-
lees (defendants).

Opinion

PER CURIAM. The plaintiff, Suntech of Connecticut,
Inc.,, a Connecticut corporation that fabricates and
installs glass and curtain walls, brought an action
against the named defendant Lawrence Brunoli, Inc., a
general contractor, and the defendant Safeco Insurance
Company of America, a bonding company, alleging,
inter alia, breach of its subcontract to provide labor
and materials in connection with the construction of
a technology center at Naugatuck Valley Community
College, which is owned by the state. See Suntech of
Connecticut, Inc. v. Lawrence Brunoli, Inc., 173 Conn.
App. 321, 324-25, 164 A.3d 36 (2017). The plaintiff now
appeals, upon our grant of its petition for certification,’
from the judgment of the Appellate Court affirming the
judgment of the trial court, rendered after a trial to the
court, in favor of the defendants. Id., 324. On appeal,
the plaintiff claims that the Appellate Court improperly
concluded that the trial court had not committed harm-
ful error when it (1) precluded the plaintiff’s fact wit-

! We granted the plaintiff’s petition for certification to appeal, limited to
the following issue: “Did the Appellate Court properly conclude that the
plaintiff failed to prove that the trial court committed harmful error when
it precluded the plaintiff’s fact witness, Rick Cianfaglione, from testifying
as to his observations and perceptions, not permitting the plaintiff’s counsel
to make an offer of proof, and disregarding Cianfaglione’s deposition tran-
script?” Suntech of Connecticut, Inc. v. Lawrence Brunoli, Inc., 326 Conn.
923, 169 A.3d 234 (2017).
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ness, Rick Cianfaglione, an independent consultant who
had been hired by the state to evaluate the scheduling
and duration of the construction project, from testifying
as to his observations and perceptions about the project
site, and (2) refused to permit the plaintiff’s counsel
to make an offer of proof, including by disregarding
relevant portions of Cianfaglione’s deposition tran-
script.

After examining the entire record on appeal and con-
sidering the briefs and oral arguments of the parties,
we have determined that the appeal in this case should
be dismissed on the ground that certification was
improvidently granted.

The appeal is dismissed.

STATE OF CONNECTICUT ». ERNEST NEWTON II
(SC 20012)

Palmer, D’Auria, Mullins, Kahn and Vertefeuille, Js.
Syllabus

Pursuant to statute (§ 9-622 [7]), a person is guilty of illegal practices in
campaign financing when he, directly or indirectly, individually or
through another person, makes a payment to a treasurer of a campaign
in a name other than the person’s own name.

Pursuant further to statute (§ 9-623), a person who “knowingly and wilfully”
violates § 9-622 (7) is guilty of a class D felony.

The defendant, who was convicted, after a jury trial, of three counts of the
crime of illegal practices in campaign financing in violation of §§ 9-622
(7) and 9-623, appealed, claiming that the trial court improperly failed
to instruct the jury that, in order to find him guilty of an illegal campaign
financing practice, it must find that he acted with the specific intent to
violate § 9-622 (7). The defendant had participated in a voluntary state
public campaign financing program that required candidates to abide
by various guidelines, including contribution and expenditure limits,
and disclosure requirements. As part of the application that his campaign
submitted to that program to qualify for a public financing grant, the
defendant allegedly submitted contribution cards certifying that five
individuals had each contributed $100 to his campaign when, in fact,
none of those individuals had made a contribution. At the charge confer-
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ence during the defendant’s trial, the parties and the court agreed, with
respect to the issue of the mens rea required for a violation of § 9-622
(7), that, at the least, the state was required to prove that the defendant
had acted knowingly. Defense counsel contended, however, that the
state was also required to prove that the defendant had acted with
specific intent. The court agreed with the state that the applicable mens
rea was general intent but indicated that it would give further thought
to defense counsel’s position, to which defense counsel replied, “[a]ll
right.” The following day, the court instructed the jury, consistent with
its ruling during the charge conference, that the state was required to
prove that the defendant knew that the campaign contribution was in
the name of a person other than the one who made it. After the court
instructed the jury, defense counsel took no exceptions to the charge
and raised only one unrelated concern. In response to the defendant’s
instructional claim on appeal, the state contended that the defendant
waived his instructional challenge and alternatively contended that the
trial court properly instructed the jury. Held:

1. This court concluded, under the particular facts and circumstances of
the case, that the defendant did not waive his unpreserved challenge
to the court’s jury instruction, and that the record was adequate for
review and the claim was of constitutional magnitude; defense counsel’s
words and conduct did not amount to an affirmative acceptance of the
court’s instruction but was merely an acknowledgment that the court
had heard his position that specific intent was required but had ruled
against him, and defense counsel’s failure to submit a subsequent request
to charge that included specific intent language or to take exception to
the charge as given did not constitute waiver.

2. The trial court improperly instructed the jury regarding the applicable
mens rea for the crime of illegal practices in campaign financing: relying
on federal precedent interpreting similar federal campaign finance laws,
and on the language and somewhat complex nature of the applicable
statutes, this court interpreted the term “knowingly and wilfully” in § 9-
623 to require an intermediate level of intent such that the trial court
was required to instruct the jury that, in order to find the defendant
guilty of illegal practices in campaign financing under §§ 9-622 (7) and
9-623, the state was required to prove that the defendant acted with
knowledge that his conduct was unlawful and with the intent to do
something that the law forbade, but that the state was not required
to prove that the defendant acted with knowledge that his conduct
specifically violated § 9-622 (7); as the trial court’s instruction required
the jury to find only that the defendant knew that the campaign contribu-
tion was in the name of a person other than the one who made it and
omitted the requirement that the defendant knew that his own conduct
was unlawful, it was reasonably possible that the jury was misled, and,
because the incorrect instruction pertained to an element of the offense
and there was no evidence in the record that the omitted element was
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uncontested, harmless error analysis did not apply, and the defendant
was entitled to a new trial.

Argued February 28—officially released October 16, 2018
Procedural History

Substitute information charging the defendant with
five counts of the crime of illegal practices in campaign
financing, two counts of the crime of larceny in the
first degree, and one count of the crime of tampering
with a witness, brought to the Superior Court in the
judicial district of Hartford and tried to the jury before
Dewey, J.; verdict and judgment of guilty of three counts
of illegal practices in campaign financing, from which
the defendant appealed. Reversed; new trial.

Mark Rademacher, assistant public defender, for the
appellant (defendant).

Kevin M. Shay, senior assistant state’s attorney, with
whom, on the brief, were Gail P. Hardy, state’s attor-
ney, and Michael A. Gailor, executive assistant state’s
attorney, for the appellee (state).

Opinion

KAHN, J. This appeal requires us to determine the
appropriate mens rea for the crime of illegal practices
in campaign financing. The defendant, Ernest Newton
II, appeals from the judgment of conviction, following a
jury trial, of three counts of illegal practices in campaign
financing in violation of General Statutes §§ 9-622 (7)
and 53a-8. The defendant claims that the trial court
improperly failed to instruct the jury that, in order to
find him guilty of an illegal campaign financing practice
in violation of § 9-622 (7), it must find that he acted
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with specific intent to violate that statute.! The state
responds that the defendant waived his instructional
challenge and, in the alternative, that the trial court
properly instructed the jury that the state was required
to prove only that the defendant acted with general
intent. We conclude that the trial court improperly
instructed the jury as to the applicable mens rea for
the crime of illegal campaign financing practices.
Accordingly, the judgment of the trial court is reversed.

A brief overview of Connecticut’s public campaign
financing program provides helpful context for consid-
ering the issues presented in this appeal. The website
for the State Elections Enforcement Commission (Com-
mission) describes Connecticut’s public campaign
financing program, the Citizens’ Election Program (Pro-
gram), as “a voluntary program which provides full
public financing to qualified candidates for [s]tatewide
offices and the General Assembly. To participate, candi-
dates must agree to abide by certain guidelines, includ-
ing contribution and expenditure limits and disclosure
requirements. This voluntary public campaign financing
program was designed to encourage citizen participa-
tion and limit the role of private money in the [s]tate
of Connecticut’s political process.” State Elections
Enforcement Commission, Citizens’ Election Program,
available at http:/www.ct.gov/seec/cwp/view.asp?a=
3548&Q=489606 (last visited October 11, 2018).

The Program applies to all state elections, including
primaries. General Statutes § 9-702 (b). In 2012, the

! The defendant also claims that the trial court improperly violated his
right to present a defense by excluding a bank statement of one of his
witnesses offered to show that the witness could not have supplied $500
in cash for the illegal campaign contributions. The state responds that the
trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the bank statement on
the basis that the defendant had failed to establish its relevance at the time
of the proffer. Because we reverse the trial court’s judgment on the basis
of the defendant’s instructional challenge, we need not resolve the question
of whether the trial court properly excluded the bank statement.
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amount of public financing grant money available to a
major party candidate who sought the nomination to
the office of state senator and who had satisfied all
of the Program’s prerequisites was $80,550. General
Statutes §§ 9-702 (a) (1) and 9-705 (e) (1) and (h). To
qualify for a public financing grant, a candidate for
state senator must raise at least $15,000 in qualifying
contributions, including contributions from at least 300
individuals residing in municipalities included in whole
or in part in the candidate’s district. General Statutes
§ 9-704 (a) (3). The maximum qualifying contribution
or contributions that any individual may make is $100.
General Statutes § 9-704 (a) (3) (A). Individuals who
make qualifying contributions of more than $50 must
fill out a qualifying contribution certification form (con-
tribution card) that certifies the truth and accuracy of
certain statutorily required information. General Stat-
utes §§ 9-608 (c¢) (3) and 9-704 (b). Candidates who
participate in the Program agree to accept campaign
expenditure limits, and they are prohibited from raising
funds other than through qualifying contributions. Gen-
eral Statutes §§ 9-702 (b) and (c) and 9-704.

The jury could have found the following relevant
facts. On January 14, 2012, the defendant registered as
a candidate for state senator in the twenty-third district,
affiliated with the Democratic party. Because the defen-
dant was “a major party candidate for nomination to
the office of state senator,” his candidate committee
was eligible under the Program for a grant from the
citizens’ election fund for his primary campaign for
the nomination. General Statutes § 9-702 (a) (1). As
required by statute, the defendant filed an affidavit of
intent to abide by the requirements of the Program.
General Statutes § 9-703 (a). In the affidavit of intent,
the defendant certified, inter alia, to the following: “I
understand that I am required to comply with the
requirements of the Program, including all applicable



October 16, 2018 CONNECTICUT LAW JOURNAL Page 9

330 Conn. 344 OCTOBER, 2018 349

State v. Newton

statutes, regulations and declaratory rulings. I certify
that I understand that my failure to abide by the require-
ments of all applicable statutes and regulations relating
to the Program may result in the . . . imposition of
penalties [by the Commission], as provided in [c]hap-
ters 1565 and 157 of the . . . General Statutes. I certify
that I understand that I shall be personally liable for
penalties relating to violations of the Program require-
ments, by myself, my agents, and/or anyone acting
under my explicit or implied direction.” The following
notice appears in bold print at the bottom of the certifi-
cation form signed and initialed by the defendant: “Mak-
ing a false statement on this form may subject you to
criminal penalties, including, but not limited to, impris-
onment, a fine, or both.”

On July 9, 2012, Loretta Williams, the treasurer for the
defendant’s candidate committee, filed the defendant’s
application for a grant from the citizens’ election fund
under the Program. In the application, the defendant
and Williams both certified that the defendant had
received the requisite amount of qualifying contribu-
tions. On the same day, Williams filed an itemized cam-
paign finance disclosure statement, which reported that
the campaign had raised an aggregate amount of
$15,375.

After Williams filed the defendant’s application for
the grant along with the supporting documentation, the
Commission conducted a routine review of the applica-
tion to confirm that the defendant had complied with
the Program requirements. That review revealed that
the defendant had raised only $14,410 in qualifying con-
tributions, falling $590 short of the amount necessary
to qualify for the grant of $80,550 in public funds. A
further review revealed that an additional $100 qualify-
ing contribution had not been counted, and it was deter-
mined that the shortfall was actually $490. On July 17,
2012, the defendant was holding a rally at his campaign
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headquarters. At approximately 4:30 p.m., Williams,
who was at the rally, received a telephone call from
the Commission informing her of the shortfall and
informing her of ways that the campaign could remedy
the shortfall and qualify for the grant. When Williams
announced the news to the room, the defendant, who
had been standing next to her, “threw his hands up in
disgust and walked out.”

Sometime later that day, Williams discovered $500
in cash on her desk, along with contribution cards certi-
fying that five individuals—Alfredo Serrano, Leeta
Reed, Mark Bogues, Vincent Derr and Zena Galberth—
had each donated $100 to the campaign. Contrary to
the representations on the contribution cards, however,
none of the five persons who signed the cards had
donated any money at any time to the defendant’s cam-
paign. Sometime after Williams announced the cam-
paign’s shortfall to the room and before she discovered
the cash on her desk, the defendant, either on his own
or through the assistance of another, had approached
the five signors and instructed them to sign the cards.
The defendant assured them that they would not be
required to donate money to the campaign. When they
were finished signing the cards, they handed them back
either to the defendant himself or to someone who was
with the defendant.

The following day, the campaign filed documents
showing that, on July 17, 2012, it had received five
separate $100 cash contributions made in the names
of Serrano, Reed, Bogues, Derr and Galberth. Upon
receiving the additional filing, the campaign disclosure
and audit unit of the Commission submitted a recom-
mendation that the defendant’s grant application be
approved. As a result of that approval, the defendant
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received a grant of $80,550.2 The defendant’s campaign
ultimately expended all of its grant money. The defen-
dant was not elected to office.

On August 23, 2012, Serrano contacted the Commis-
sion to complain that he had not been compensated
for work that he had performed for the defendant’s
campaign. At that time, Serrano also disclosed that he
had signed a document stating that he had made a
contribution to the campaign when he had not in fact
contributed any money. Charles Urso, the lead investi-
gator for the Commission, followed up on the informa-
tion provided by Serrano and ultimately took
statements from all five individuals who had signed
contribution cards at the rally on July 17, 2012.

The defendant was subsequently charged with two
counts of larceny in the first degree in violation of
General Statutes § 53a-122 (a) (2) and (4), and § 53a-8,
one count of tampering with a witness in violation of
General Statutes § 53a-151, and five counts of illegal
practices in campaign financing in violation of §§ 9-622
(7) and 53a-8.% Following a jury trial, the defendant
was found guilty of three counts of illegal practices in
campaign financing and found not guilty of tampering
with a witness. The court declared a mistrial as to the

% The actual amount disbursed to the defendant was $80,805. That amount
included an adjustment of $255 to correct for an overpayment made by
the defendant’s committee to the Commission. Specifically, because the
defendant’s committee reported that it raised $15,140, the committee was
required to remit the excess $140 to the Commission prior to receiving the
grant money. The committee mistakenly overpaid by $255, remitting payment
to the Commission of $395.

3 We observe that the long form information does not cite General Statutes
§ 9-623 in connection with the counts charging the defendant with illegal
practices in campaign financing. Although the defendant speculates that
this omission in the long form information could have caused the trial court’s
failure to instruct the jury that the defendant must have acted “wilfully” in
order to be found guilty of illegal practices in campaign financing, the
defendant does not ground his appeal on a claim that the information
was deficient.
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remaining counts. The court sentenced the defendant
to a total effective sentence of six months imprison-
ment, with the sentence stayed pending appeal. This
appeal followed.* Additional facts and procedural his-
tory will be set forth as necessary.

The defendant claims that the trial court improperly
failed to charge that, in order to find him guilty of an
illegal practice in campaign financing in violation of
§ 9-622 (7), the jury was required to find that he “know-
ingly and wilfully” violated the statute as provided in
General Statutes § 9-623, and that the statutory lan-
guage, “knowingly and wilfully,” denotes that the defen-
dant acted with specific intent. The state contends that
we should decline to address this claim because the
defendant waived it. In the alternative, the state argues
that the trial court’s charge correctly instructed the jury
that it had to find that the defendant acted with general
intent. The defendant responds that his claim is pre-
served and that he did not waive it. We conclude that
the defendant’s claim, although unpreserved, was not
waived, and is reviewable pursuant to State v. Golding,
213 Conn. 233, 239-40, 567 A.2d 823 (1989). We further
conclude that the trial court improperly instructed the
jury that in order to find the defendant guilty of the
crime of illegal practices in campaign financing, it was
required to find that the defendant acted with gen-
eral intent.

I

As a threshold matter, we address the state’s con-
tention that the defendant waived his unpreserved
instructional challenge. The defendant’s failure to pre-
serve his instructional challenge is clear from the
record. He failed to file a request to charge, and he did

¢ The defendant appealed from the judgment of the trial court to the
Appellate Court, and we transferred the appeal to this court pursuant to
General Statutes § 51-199 (¢) and Practice Book § 65-1.



October 16, 2018 CONNECTICUT LAW JOURNAL Page 13

330 Conn. 344 OCTOBER, 2018 363

State v. Newton

not take an exception to the charge as given. Under
those circumstances, we have held that a claim has not
been preserved. See State v. Ramos, 261 Conn. 156,
170, 801 A.2d 788 (2002), overruled in part on other
grounds by State v. Elson, 311 Conn. 726, 754-55, 91
A.3d 862 (2014)." We have explained that “a defendant
can prevail on a claim of constitutional error not pre-
served at trial only if all of the following conditions are
met: (1) the record is adequate to review the alleged
claim of error; (2) the claim is of constitutional magni-
tude alleging the violation of a fundamental right; (3)
the alleged constitutional violation . . . exists and
. . . deprived the defendant of a fair trial; and (4) if
subject to harmless error analysis, the state has failed to
demonstrate harmlessness of the alleged constitutional
violation beyond a reasonable doubt.” (Emphasis in
original; footnote omitted.) State v. Golding, supra, 213
Conn. 239-40; see also In re Yasiel R., 317 Conn. 773,
781, 120 A.3d 1188 (2015) (modifying third prong of
Golding).

The state claims that the defendant’s instructional
challenge is unreviewable because he implicitly waived
the claim under the rule articulated in State v. Kitchens,

>We observe that the state relies on the defendant’s failure to invoke
Golding by name to urge that we decline to review the defendant’s instruc-
tional challenge. This court, however, has expressly rejected the notion that
a defendant’s entitlement to Golding review should be predicated on an
affirmative request for such review. State v. Elson, 311 Conn. 726, 754-55,
91 A.3d 862 (2014) (overruling in part State v. Ramos, supra, 261 Conn. 156,
and its progeny). In Elson, we overruled a line of cases that had required
precisely what the state suggests we should require of the defendant in the
present case—to secure Golding review, a defendant must affirmatively
request such review. State v. Elson, supra, 730, 754-55. We clarified that,
“to obtain review of an unpreserved claim pursuant to State v. Golding,
supra, 213 Conn. 239-40, a defendant need only raise that claim in his main
brief, wherein he must present a record that is [adequate] for review and
affirmatively [demonstrate] that his claim is indeed a violation of a fundamen-
tal constitutional right.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) State v. Elson,
supra, 754-55. In the present case, the defendant has met those requirements.
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299 Conn. 447, 10 A.3d 942 (2011). Specifically, in
Kitchens, we held that, “when the trial court provides
counsel with a copy of the proposed jury instructions,
allows a meaningful opportunity for their review,
solicits comments from counsel regarding changes or
modifications and counsel affirmatively accepts the
instructions proposed or given, the defendant may be
deemed to have knowledge of any potential flaws
therein and to have waived implicitly the constitutional
right to challenge the instructions on direct appeal.
Such a determination by the reviewing court must be
based on a close examination of the record and the
particular facts and circumstances of each case.” Id.,
482-83. Under the circumstances of the present case,
we find no waiver.

The following additional procedural facts are relevant
to our resolution of this issue. The court provided the
parties with copies of the draft preliminary instructions
on January 12, 2015. At that time, the court requested
that counsel provide input on areas that the court had
marked on the draft and, in particular, solicited feed-
back from counsel as to whether the applicable mens
rea for the crime of illegal practices in campaign financ-
ing was general or specific intent. Shortly thereafter,
the court reminded counsel that it welcomed any com-
ments on the draft charge. The next day, the court
provided counsel with an updated version of the draft
and reiterated that they should contact the court with
any suggestions for changes to the proposed
instructions.

During the charge conference on January 14, 2015,
the state took issue with the proposed instruction on
the crime of illegal practices in campaign financing on
the basis that some of the language in the instruction
suggested that specific intent was the applicable mens
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rea.® The state argued that only general intent was
required. During the ensuing discussion, both the par-
ties and the court all agreed that, at the very least, the
state was required to prove that the defendant had acted
knowingly. Defense counsel contended, however, that
ajury finding that the defendant had merely acted know-
ingly would be insufficient to support a conviction. In
addition to finding that he acted knowingly, defense
counsel argued, the jury was required to find that the
defendant had acted with specific intent. The court
agreed with the state that the applicable mens rea was
general intent, but indicated that it would give further
thought to the defendant’s position. Upon hearing the
court’s ruling, defense counsel stated: “All right.” At
the close of the charge conference, the court instructed
counsel that they should contact the court before the
next day with any additional issues concerning the
charge.

5 As of the date of the charge conference, the court’s proposed draft
instruction as to the mens rea for the crime of illegal campaign financing
practices (given with the first count, then incorporated by reference in
the remaining counts) provided in relevant part: “The third element is the
defendant, as a principal or accessory, knew that the information was false.
A person acts ‘knowingly’ with respect to conduct or circumstances when
he is aware that his conduct is of such nature or that such circumstances
exist. An act is done knowingly if done voluntarily and purposely, and not
because of mistake, inadvertence or accident.

“Ordinarily, knowledge can be established only through an inference from
other proven facts and circumstances. The inference may be drawn if the
circumstances are such that a reasonable person of honest intention, in the
situation of the defendant, would have concluded that . . . Serrano had
not made a campaign contribution. The determinative question is whether
the circumstances in the particular case form a basis for a sound inference
as to the knowledge of the defendant in the transaction under inquiry. . . .

“The fourth element is that the defendant intended to deprive the public
community of the value of the claim. To intend to deprive another of property
means to intend to withhold or keep or cause it to be withheld from another
permanently, or for so long a period or under such circumstances that the
major portion of its value is lost to that person. In other words, the state
must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant took the property
for the purpose of keeping or using it permanently or virtually permanently,
or of disposing of the property in such a way that there was a permanent
or virtually permanent loss of the property to the owner.”
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The following day, the court instructed the jury on
the applicable mens rea consistent with its ruling during
the charge conference. Specifically, the court instructed
the jury that, as to the third element of the crime of
illegal practices in campaign financing, the state had to
prove “knowledge of [the] falsity of the payment.” The
court’s instruction provided in relevant part: “The third
element is the defendant, as a principal or accessory,
knew that the information was false. A person acts
knowingly with respect to conduct or circumstances
when he is aware that his conduct is of such nature or
that such circumstances exist. An act is done knowingly
if done voluntarily and purposely, and not because of
mistake, inadvertence or accident.

“Ordinarily, knowledge can be established only
through an inference from other proven facts and cir-
cumstances. The inferences may be drawn if the circum-
stances are such that a reasonable person of honest
intention . . . in the situation of the defendant, would
have concluded that . . . Serrano had not made a cam-
paign contribution. The determinative question is . . .
whether the circumstances in the particular case form
a basis for a sound inference as to the knowledge of
the defendant in the transaction under inquiry. . . .

“Conclusion. In summary, the state must prove
beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant . . . as
either a principal or an accessory, one, either directly,
indirectly or through another person, made a payment
to the treasurer; two, the payment to the treasurer was
in the name, [Serrano], a person other tha[n] the person
who provided the payment; and, three, the defendant,
as a principal or accessory, knew that the information
was false.”

After the court finished the charge and excused the
jury, it invited counsel to raise any objections to the
charge as given. During the ensuing colloquy, defense
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counsel raised one concern with the charge but did not
question the court’s instruction that the applicable mens
rea for the crime of illegal practices in campaign financ-
ing was general intent. The defendant took no excep-
tions to the charge.

The state claims that, although defense counsel ini-
tially requested a specific intent instruction, in light of
his subsequent statements and conduct, he implicitly
waived any challenge to the court’s general intent
instruction by “affirmatively accepting” it. Specifically,
the state claims that defense counsel abandoned his
claim that specific intent was required and “accepted”
the general intent instruction by responding, “[a]ll right”
when the court rejected his request. As further evidence
that defense counsel “affirmatively accepted” the gen-
eral intent charge, the state points to defense counsel’s
failure either to file a subsequent request to charge
including specific intent language or to reiterate his
request for a specific intent charge before the final
instruction the following morning. Lastly, the state
points out that, when the court gave counsel the oppor-
tunity to raise any concerns with the charge after the
court had given the final instruction, defense counsel
raised an issue but did not object to the general intent
instruction, and took no exception to the charge on
that basis.

We emphasize that our determination that defense
counsel did not waive his instructional challenge is
predicated on a close examination of the record and is
limited to the particular facts and circumstances of the
present case. See State v. Kitchens, supra, 299 Conn.
482-83. Under these particular facts and circumstances,
we conclude that the words and conduct of defense
counsel did not amount to an affirmative acceptance
of the court’s general intent instruction.” At the charge

"Because we conclude that defense counsel did not affirmatively accept
the instruction, we need not review the other Kitchens factors.
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conference, when he responded “[a]ll right” to the
court’s ruling in favor of the state, defense counsel
already had informed the court of his position—that
the law required the court to charge the jury that, in
order to obtain a conviction of the crime of illegal prac-
tices in campaign financing, the state had to prove that
the defendant acted with specific intent. Given that
particular context, we conclude that the most reason-
able reading of defense counsel’s statement is that he
was merely acknowledging that the court had heard his
position and had ruled against him.

This case stands in sharp contrast to State v. Cole-
man, 304 Conn. 161, 37 A.3d 713 (2012), on which the
state relies. In that case, our conclusion that the defen-
dant had waived his instructional challenge on appeal
was based on our observations that (1) the defendant
had raised a different objection in the trial court than
the one he raised on appeal, and (2) as to the objection
he did raise at trial, he had suggested a cure that the
trial court adopted. Id., 173-74. In the present case, the
defendant’s position on appeal is the same as the one he
argued before the trial court—that the court improperly
charged the jury that the applicable mens rea was gen-
eral intent.

We also are not persuaded by the state’s argument
that defense counsel affirmatively accepted the general
intent instruction by failing to reiterate his opposition
to the trial court’s ruling in the state’s favor. For
instance, the state relies on defense counsel’s failure
either to submit a subsequent request to charge includ-
ing specific intent language or to take an exception to
the charge as given. Under the facts of the present case,
those failures on the part of defense counsel, although
relevant to the preservation of the defendant’s claim,
do not constitute waiver. The purpose of the Kitchens
rule is simply to ensure that defense counsel brings
“the specific instructional error to the trial court’s atten-
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n.27. Defense counsel in the present case did precisely
that. Nothing in our decision in Kiichens requires that,
in order to avoid the implicit waiver rule, defense coun-
sel must doggedly and repeatedly pursue an instruc-
tional claim that has already been presented to and
rejected by the trial court. The defendant’s claim was
not waived. Accordingly, because the record is adequate
and the claim is of constitutional magnitude, we review
the defendant’s claim pursuant to Golding.

II

We turn to the primary question presented in this
appeal, namely, what mens rea the state must prove in
order for a jury to find a defendant guilty of the crime
of illegal practices in campaign financing. We conclude
that, in order to obtain a conviction for a violation of
§ 9-622 (7), the state must prove that a defendant acted
with knowledge that his conduct was unlawful and with
the intent to do something the law forbids. It is not
necessary, however, for the state to prove that the
defendant acted with knowledge that his conduct spe-
cifically violated § 9-622 (7). Accordingly, although we
disagree with the defendant that the state was required
to prove specific intent, we also disagree with the state
that the trial court properly instructed the jury that only
general intent was required.

“The standard of review for claims of instructional
impropriety is well established. [I|ndividual jury
instructions should not be judged in artificial isolation
. . . but must be viewed in the context of the overall
charge. . . . The pertinent test is whether the charge,
read in its entirety, fairly presents the case to the jury
in such a way that injustice is not done to either party
under the established rules of law. . . . Thus, [t]he
whole charge must be considered from the standpoint
of its effect on the [jurors] in guiding them to the proper
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verdict . . . and not critically dissected in a micro-

scopic search for possible error. . . . Accordingly, [i]n

reviewing a constitutional challenge to the trial court’s
instruction, we must consider the jury charge as a whole
to determine whether it is reasonably possible that the
instruction misled the jury. . . . In other words, we
must consider whether the instructions [in totality] are
sufficiently correct in law, adapted to the issues and
ample for the guidance of the jury. . . . A challenge
to the validity of jury instructions presents a question
of law over which [we have] plenary review.” (Internal
quotation marks omitted.) State v. Campbell, 328 Conn.
444, 528-29, 180 A.3d 882 (2018).

Section 9-622, which sets forth illegal practices in
campaign financing, including the particular practice
at issue in the present case, provides in relevant part:
“The following persons shall be guilty of illegal prac-
tices and shall be punished in accordance with the
provisions of section 9-623 . . . (7) Any person who,
directly or indirectly, individually or through another
person, makes a payment or promise of payment to a
treasurer in a name other than the person’s own, and
any treasurer who knowingly receives a payment or
promise of payment, or enters or causes the same to
be entered in the person’s accounts in any other name
than that of the person by whom such payment or
promise of payment is made . . . .” Unless a defendant
is a campaign treasurer, § 9-622 (7) does not identify
the requisite mental state for a violation of the statute.
Section 9-623—the penalty provision for § 9-622—
defines the mental state for violations of the provisions
of § 9-622, including subsection (7). Section 9-623 pro-
vides in relevant part: “(a) Any person who knowingly
and wilfully violates any provision of this chapter shall
be guilty of a class D felony. . . .” (Emphasis added.)

The central question presented in this appeal, there-
fore, is the meaning of the phrase “knowingly and wil-
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fully” in § 9-623—or, more precisely, the meaning of
the term “wilfully” within that phrase. The meaning of
the term “knowingly” is neither problematic nor dis-
puted by the parties. A defendant acts “knowingly”
when, as the trial court instructed in the present case,
“he is aware that his conduct is of such nature or that
such circumstances exist. An act is done knowingly if
done voluntarily and purposely, and not because of
mistake, inadvertence or accident.” The question is
whether the word “wilfully,” as used in the phrase
“knowingly and wilfully,” requires that the state prove
more than mere knowledge. That question is one of
statutory interpretation, over which we exercise ple-
nary review, guided by well established principles
regarding legislative intent. See, e.g., Kastica v. Colum-
bia, 309 Conn. 85, 93, 70 A.3d 1 (2013) (explaining plain
meaning rule under General Statutes § 1-2z and setting
forth process for ascertaining legislative intent).

Although this court has previously considered the
meaning of the phrase “knowingly and wilfully” as used
in the campaign finance statutory scheme, our interpre-
tation of that phrase predated significant developments
in the relevant case law of the United States Supreme
Court. In State v. Proto, 203 Conn. 682, 686, 526 A.2d
1297 (1987), the state appealed from the trial court’s
judgment dismissing the counts charging the defen-
dants with criminal violations of the campaign finance
statutes on the basis that the relevant provisions were
impermissibly vague. In support of the trial court’s judg-
ment, the defendants argued that it was unclear whether
the phrase “knowingly and wilfully” denoted a subjec-
tive or objective standard for the mens rea. Id., 704.
This court rejected that argument on the basis that
“[t]he phrase ‘knowingly and wilfully’ invariably
denotes a specific intent, or subjective state of mind.”
Id., citing Screws v. United States, 325 U.S. 91, 101, 65
S. Ct. 1031, 89 L. Ed. 1495 (1945).
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Since Proto was decided, however, the United States
Supreme Court has revisited the meaning of the term
“knowingly and wilfully” in several seminal decisions
and has arrived at a more nuanced, contextual approach
to interpreting that phrase. Because those decisions
are not reconcilable with our conclusion in Proto that
“knowingly and willfully,” as used in the campaign
finance statutes, denotes specific intent, we now recon-
sider that conclusion. Most important, more recent deci-
sions of the United States Supreme Court have stated
the general rule in a manner completely contrary to our
statement in Proto that the term “invariably” denotes
specific intent. State v. Proto, supra, 203 Conn. 704.
“ITThe term [wilfully] in criminal law generally refers
to consciousness of the act but not to consciousness
that the act is unlawful.” (Internal quotation marks
omitted.) Ratzlaf v. United States, 510 U.S. 135, 151,
114 S. Ct. 6565, 126 L. Ed. 2d 615 (1994) (Blackmun, J.,
dissenting). Significantly, however, although the court
has indicated that, as a general rule, it will interpret
the term “wilfully” to denote general intent, it has also
made clear that the term’s meaning will vary depending
on the particular statutory scheme, explaining that “wil-
ful” is a “word of many meanings, and its construction
[is] often . . . influenced by its context.” (Internal quo-
tation marks omitted.) Id., 141.

Because our campaign finance laws are similar to
federal campaign finance laws, in interpreting §§ 9-622
(7) and 9-623, we are guided by recent United States
Supreme Court decisions construing the term “wil-
fully.” See Nussbaum v. Kimberly Timbers, Ltd., 271
Conn. 65, 73 n.6, 856 A.2d 364 (2004) (“[i]n construing
a Connecticut statute that is similar to federal law, we
are guided by federal case law”). Our reliance on federal
law is particularly appropriate for interpreting the term
“knowingly and wilfully” because our use of that partic-
ular phrase in § 9-623 is “patterned after the Federal
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[Election] Campaign Act of 1971.” 23 H.R. Proc., Pt. 15,
1980 Sess., p. 4473, remarks of Representative Chester
W. Morgan. See 52 U.S.C. §§ 30109 (d) (1) (A) and 30122
(Supp. I 2015) (“knowingly and [wilfully]” making
campaign contribution in name of another person is
subject to criminal penalty). Accordingly, we look to
the decisions of the federal courts for guidance. We
find particularly persuasive the decision of the United
States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit in United
States v. George, 386 F.3d 383, 389-93 (2d Cir. 2004),
which analyzes the decisions of the United States
Supreme Court that have interpreted the meaning of
the term “wilfully.”

In George, the defendant had been convicted of mak-
ing a false statement in a passport application. Id., 385.
The issue on appeal required the court to construe the
meaning of the term “ ‘[wilfuly] and knowingly’ ” as
used in the applicable federal statute, in order to deter-
mine the mens rea that applied to the crime. Id., 388-89.
The court began its analysis with the recognition that
“[d]ivining the meaning of ‘[wilfully]’ in criminal statu-
tory mens rea terms has long bedeviled American
courts.” Id., 389. Ultimately, the court held that, under
the applicable statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1542, the phrase “[wil-
fully] and knowingly” denoted general intent. Id., 394—
95. In other words, a conviction under that statute
requires that “a defendant provide in a passport applica-
tion information he or she knows to be false and does
not mandate that the defendant act with a specific pur-
pose to make false statements or to violate the law,
either generally or [18 U.S.C.] § 1542 specifically.” Id.,
389. In the course of its analysis, the court reviewed
decisions of the United States Supreme Court that had
interpreted the term wilfully as used in different crimi-
nal statutes.

Depending on the complexity of the statutory scheme
and the risk of criminalizing otherwise innocent con-
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duct, the Second Circuit in George identified three dif-
ferent meanings of “wilfully” in United States Supreme
Court jurisprudence: (1) the baseline level of intent,
which requires the government to prove only that the
defendant’s conduct was intentional as distinguished
from accidental; id.; (2) the highest level of intent, which
“requires the [g]lovernment to prove that the law
imposed a duty on the defendant, that the defendant
knew of this duty, and that he voluntarily and intention-
ally violated that duty”; (internal quotation marks omit-
ted) id., 391; and (3) the intermediary level of intent,
which does not require the government to prove that
the defendant had specific knowledge of the law he is
charged with violating, but does require the government
to prove that the defendant “acted with knowledge that
his conduct was unlawful.” (Internal quotation marks
omitted.) Id., 392.

The court concluded that the first, baseline meaning
applied under the facts presented in George. Relying
on Browder v. United States, 312 U.S. 335, 342, 61 S.
Ct. 599, 85 L. Ed. 862 (1941), which had construed “wil-
fully” as used in the same statute that was at issue
in George, the court in George interpreted the term
“wilfully” to signify general intent. So construed, “wil-
fully” denotes “an intentional as distinguished from an
accidental act,” one that is undertaken “deliberately
and with knowledge and not something which is merely
careless or negligent or inadvertent.” (Internal quota-
tion marks omitted.) United States v. George, supra,
386 F.3d 389. In Browder, the court explained that the
requirement of merely general intent was appropriate
given the fairly straightforward statutory language.
Browder v. United States, supra, 340-41.

The second meaning of “wilfully” identified by George
is the most stringent standard of specific intent, which
would require the government to prove that a defendant
acted with knowledge not only that his conduct was
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unlawful, but also that he knew that the law imposed
a specific duty on him and that his conduct violated
that specific duty. See Cheek v. United States, 498 U.S.
192, 201, 111 S. Ct. 604, 112 L. Ed. 2d 617 (1991). In
other words, this highest level of intent requires that a
defendant act with knowledge of the statutory require-
ment and have a specific intent to violate the statute.
Ratzlaf v. United States, supra, 510 U.S. 141. The Sec-
ond Circuit observed in George that the United States
Supreme Court “has read ‘[wilfully]’ to require such
specific intent only when those activities classified as
illegal do not on their own provide notice of their crimi-
nality, either because of the difficulty of comprehending
the legally acceptable parameters of the activity or
because the criminal actus reus can often be undertaken
with a lawful purpose.” United States v. George, supra,
386 F.3d 390. See, e.g., Ratzlaf v. United States, supra,
144 (requiring specific intent for violation of antistruc-
turing banking regulation on basis that imposition of
merely general intent would risk criminalizing other-
wise innocent conduct); Cheek v. United States, supra,
200 (requiring specific intent on basis of complexity of
tax laws and attendant risk of criminalizing innocent
conduct if traditional rule of requiring only general
intent is applied).

The third meaning of “wilfully”—an “intermediate”
level of intent—is exemplified by the decision of the
Supreme Court in Bryan v. United States, 524 U.S. 184,
195-96, 118 S. Ct. 1939, 141 L. Ed. 2d 197 (1998). See
United States v. George, supra, 386 F.3d 391. In Bryan,
the Supreme Court “declined to apply the stricter inter-
pretation of ‘[wilfully]’ (established by Cheek and Rat-
zlaf) to create additional exceptions to the criminal law
maxim that ignorance of the law is no defense to crime,
but nevertheless still required the defendant to possess
some knowledge of the illegality of his or her conduct.”
Id. The court in Bryan construed the term “wilfully,”
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as used in provisions regulating the use and sale of
firearms, to signify something more than general intent,
but falling short of the most stringent form of specific
intent. Bryan v. United States, supra, 187, 193. Specifi-
cally, in order to obtain a conviction, the government
was required to prove that the defendant acted with
knowledge that his conduct was generally unlawful, but
was not required to prove that the defendant knew of
the specific licensing requirement that he was charged
with violating. Id., 198. The court explained that the
more stringent mens rea was appropriate in Cheek and
Ratzlaf because, unlike the statutory scheme at issue
in Bryan, the statutes at issue in those cases were
“highly technical statutes that presented the danger of
ensnaring individuals engaged in apparently innocent
conduct.” Id., 194. In addition, the court observed, in
the statutes at issue in Bryan, there was “no danger of
conviction of a defendant with an innocent state of
mind.” Id., 195 n.22.

In concluding that the term “wilfully” denoted more
than mere general intent, the court in Bryan relied
primarily on the fact that in the statute at issue in the
case, 18 U.S.C. § 924, the different statutory subsections
impose criminal liability for different acts depending
on whether those acts were performed either “know-
ingly” or “wilfully.” Id., 193. Specifically, title 18 of the
United States Code, § 924 (a) (1) (A), (B) and (C), predi-
cates criminal liability on violating the relevant substan-
tive provisions “knowingly,” whereas 18 U.S.C. § 924 (a)
(D) (D), the particular subparagraph at issue in Bryan,
requires that a violation be “wilful” in order to give rise
to criminal liability. The court inferred that, because
18 U.S.C. § 924 (a) (1) (D) uses wilfully, as opposed to
knowingly, with respect to violations of the provisions
governed by that subparagraph, the two levels of intent
must differ. Bryan v. United States, supra, 524 U.S. 193.
Accordingly, for a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 924 (a) (1)
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(D), the government was required to prove more than
simply knowledge of the underlying circumstances. The
government also was required to prove that the defen-
dant “acted with knowledge that his conduct was
unlawful.” Id.

The remaining question in the present appeal is which
of the three levels of intent is the correct standard for
the term “wilfully” as used in §§ 9-622 (7) and 9-623.
Although there are no Second Circuit cases analyzing
the proper mens rea in the context of campaign financ-
ing statutes, federal district courts in other circuits have
applied the George analytical framework in addressing
this issue. In doing so, those courts have concluded
that the intermediate meaning of “wilfulness” is the
appropriate mens rea for violations of the federal cam-
paign finance statutes that use substantially the same
language as § 9-623, i.e., “knowingly and wilfully.” See
United States v. Whittemore, 944 F. Supp. 2d 1003, 1007
(D. Nev. 2013), aff'd, 776 F.3d 1074 (9th Cir.), cert.
denied, U.S. ,136S. Ct. 89, 193 L. Ed. 2d 35 (2015);
United States v. Danielczyk, 788 F. Supp. 2d 472, 491
(E.D. Va. 2011), rev’'d in part on other grounds, 683 F.3d
611 (4th Cir. 2012), cert. denied, 568 U.S. 1193, 133 S.
Ct. 1459, 185 L. Ed. 2d 362 (2013).

The reasoning of the District Court in Danielczyk is
particularly instructive. That case involved charges that
the defendant had made campaign contributions in the
name of another in violation of 2 U.S.C. § 441f and 18
U.S.C. § 2. United States v. Danielczyk, supra, 788 F.
Supp. 2d 476. Rejecting the argument that the highest
level of intent should apply, the court observed that,
by comparison with the tax code and the antistructuring
regulation that was at issue in Cheek and Ratzlaf, cam-
paign finance laws “are more intuitive and less com-
plex.” Id., 490. The court explained: *“Campaign
contributions laws are not so complex or surprising
that the average citizen would likely be trapped by
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them.” Id. On the defendants’ subsequent motion for
reconsideration, the court adhered to its original view
and offered an additional explanation as to why the
highest level of intent was not required in this context.
United States v. Danielczyk, 917 F. Supp. 2d 573, 578
(E.D. Va. 2013). Specifically, the court explained that,
although campaign finance statutes are at least some-
what complex, the same may be said of many statutory
schemes. If the court were too readily concluding that
the highest level of intent is required on the basis of
complexity, it would risk making the exception the
rule. Id.

The court also rejected the government’s argument
that only general intent was required. Notwithstanding
the court’s earlier observation that there was only a
low risk that the average citizen would be “trapped”
by the campaign finance laws, it acknowledged that it
was at least possible that innocent conduct could be
criminalized if the court interpreted “wilful” to denote
the baseline level of general intent. United States v.
Danielczyk, supra, 788 F. Supp. 2d 490-91. As to this
issue, the court found persuasive a hypothetical offered
by the defendants: Suppose a proud parent of a politi-
cally active college student reimbursed that student for
the purchase of a ticket to a political fundraiser because
the parent believed that otherwise she would be unable
to afford the price of attendance. Id., 483. If the term
“wilful” were to be interpreted to signify that only gen-
eral intent is required, the parent’s conduct would be
criminalized because the actual contributor is the par-
ent, not the child. This is so because, although “the
parent reimbursing his daughter’s fundraiser ticket is
not intuitively ‘bad’ . . . his actions would meet the
actus reus” for the applicable campaign finance statute.
Id., 491. Accordingly, the court reasoned, the baseline
level of general intent would not strike the proper bal-
ance and the intermediate level was required. That is,
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in order to be found guilty of violating the federal cam-
paign finance laws, the government was required to
prove that the defendants “intended to violate the law
(whatever the law was); but it [did not need to] prove
[the] [d]efendants’ awareness of the specific law’s com-
mands.” Id.

We agree with the federal courts that interpreting the
term “wilful” in the campaign finance laws to denote the
intermediate level of intent strikes the proper balance.’
That is, the intermediate level gives proper effect to
the fact that, although the campaign finance laws are
somewhat complex, the risk that the application of gen-
eral intent would criminalize innocent conduct, while
low, is not impossible. This level of intent is particularly
appropriate given the language of §§ 9-622 (7) and 9-
623. Specifically, § 9-622 (7) provides that a campaign
treasurer is liable for “knowingly” receiving a payment
to the campaign in a name other than the person making
the payment. As to any person other than the campaign
treasurer, however, criminal liability requires that such
receipt be made “knowingly and wilfully” pursuant to
§ 9-623.° The different statutory language describing the

8 We are not persuaded by the defendant’s reliance on United States v.
Curran, 20 F.3d 560 (3d Cir. 1994), for the proposition that we should
interpret “wilful” in § 9-623 to denote the highest level of intent. As the state
correctly points out, Curran did not involve an interpretation of the federal
campaign finance laws and is therefore inapposite.

? We recognize that it is peculiar that only the campaign treasurer, and
not the candidate,, is held to the higher standard. As §§ 9-622 (7) and 9-623
are presently worded, the most reasonable inference is that the legislature
intended that a candidate be held to the same standard as any member of
the public. Certainly, public policy principles would counsel otherwise.
Regardless of our view that the better approach would be to apply the
criminal penalty to a candidate who “knowingly” receives a payment in a
name other than the name of the person by whom such payment is made,
“restraint counsels us to commend the issue to the attention of the legislature
for further review, as is appropriate. We consistently have held that the task
of changing the law lies with the legislature, and not with the judiciary.”
(Internal quotation marks omitted.) Connecticut Podiatric Medical Assn.
v. Health Net of Connecticut, Inc., 302 Conn. 464, 473 n.6, 28 A.3d 958 (2011).
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level of intent supports our conclusion that “knowingly
and wilfully” in § 9-623 is more than mere knowledge
of the act. See Bryan v. United States, supra, 524 U.S.
193 (drawing similar inference on basis of different
mens rea language in different statutory subpara-
graphs). Accordingly, in the present case, the court was
required to instruct the jury that, in order to obtain a
conviction pursuant to §9-622 (7), the state was
required to prove the intermediate level of intent—that
the defendant knew what he was doing, intended to do
it, and he knew that his conduct was unlawful."

Consistent with our conclusion that the intermediate
level of intent applies, the court was required to instruct
the jury as follows: “The . . . final element that the
[state] must prove . . . is that the defendant acted
knowingly and [wilfully]. A person acts knowingly if he
acts intentionally and voluntarily and not because of
ignorance, mistake, accident, or carelessness. [Wilfully]
means to act with knowledge that one’s conduct is
unlawful and with the intent to do something that the
law forbids. That is to say, with a bad purpose, either
to disobey or disregard the law. The defendant’s con-
duct was not [wilful] if it was due to negligence, inadver-
tence, or mistake. However, it is not necessary for the
[state] to prove that the defendant knew the precise
terms of the statute or regulatory provision he is
charged with violating—that is, the [state] is not
required to prove that the defendant knew the existence
of the details of [§§ 9-622 (7) and 9-623] or the related
regulations. All that is required is that the [state] prove
that the defendant acted with the intent to disobey or
disregard the law.” United States v. Henry, 888 F.3d 589,
599 (2d Cir. 2018); see also id. (approving instruction

0 We emphasize that the court was not required to instruct the jury that,
in order to obtain a conviction, the state was required to prove that the
defendant acted with the specific intent to violate § 9-622 (7).
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as to intermediate level in case involving alleged viola-
tion of Arms Export Control Act, 22 U.S.C. § 2778).

In the present case, the instruction that the trial court
gave, which is set forth in part I of this opinion, only
requires knowledge of the falsity of the payment and
not knowledge that the defendant’s own conduct was
unlawful—that is to say, with a bad purpose to disobey
or disregard the law. The jury, therefore, was not prop-
erly instructed regarding the applicable mens rea for
the crime of illegal practices in campaign financing, and
we conclude that it is reasonably possible that the jury
was misled. Moreover, because the incorrect instruc-
tion pertains to an element of the offense, and because
there is no evidence in the record that the omitted
element was uncontested, harmless error analysis does
not apply.!! See, e.g., Epps v. Commissioner of Correc-
tion, 327 Conn. 482, 485 n.4, 175 A.3d 558 (2018)
(reviewing court applies harmless error review for
instruction improperly omitting element of offense only
if court is satisfied “beyond a reasonable doubt that

' The state contends that, because “the defendant’s knowledge of the law
was never an issue at trial,” the defendant’s mens rea was uncontested, and,
therefore, the instructional error was harmless. As support for its claim that
the defendant’s mens rea was uncontested, the state points out that the
defendant’s theory of defense was that he played no part in soliciting the
contribution cards. In other words, rather than arguing that he did not know
it was illegal to ask persons to falsely claim that they made contributions
to his campaign, the defendant claimed that he had nothing at all to do with
the contributions.

For two reasons, we are not persuaded by the state’s argument. First, it
ignores the principle that the state bears the burden to prove beyond a
reasonable doubt that the defendant had the requisite mens rea. Given that
allocation of the burden, the mens rea is always contested, unless a defen-
dant concedes that he had the requisite mens rea. In fact, because the state
always must prove all of the elements of an offense, the defendant has no
obligation to affirmatively contest an element—at the end of the state’s
case, he may elect to hold the state to its burden. That strategic decision
does not mean that the defendant has conceded any element of the offense.
Second, implicit in a general defense of nonparticipation in criminal activity
is the claim of lack of intent to engage in that conduct.
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the omitted element was uncontested and supported
by overwhelming evidence, such that the jury verdict
would have been the same absent the error” [emphasis
altered; internal quotation marks omitted]).

The judgment is reversed and the case is remanded
for a new trial.

In this opinion the other justices concurred.
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STATE OF CONNECTICUT ». JASMINE LAMANTIA

The defendant’s petition for certification to appeal
from the Appellate Court, 181 Conn. App. 648 (AC
40157), is granted, limited to the following issue:

“Did the Appellate Court properly conclude that the
evidence was sufficient to prove beyond a reasonable
doubt that the defendant intended to induce a witness
to testify falsely in an official proceeding that she
believed to be pending or imminent, in violation of
General Statutes § 53a-151 (a)?”

Conrad Ost Seifert, assigned counsel, in support of
the petition.

Melissa L. Streeto, senior assistant state’s attorney,
in opposition.

Decided October 3, 2018

SYLVIA N. KUEHL v. ROSALIND
J. KOSKOFF ET AL.

The plaintiff’s petition for certification to appeal from
the Appellate Court, 182 Conn. App. 505 (AC 38128),
is denied.
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ROBINSON, C. J., and McDONALD and ECKER, Js.,
did not participate in the consideration of or decision
on this petition.

Ridgely Whitmore Brown, in support of the petition.

James J. Healy and Matthew W. Naparty, in oppo-
sition.

Decided October 3, 2018

STATE OF CONNECTICUT v. MONDAY J. ORTIZ

The defendant’s petition for certification to appeal
from the Appellate Court, 182 Conn. App. 580 (AC
39391), is denied.

Alice Osedach, assistant public defender, in support
of the petition.

Timothy J. Sugrue, assistant state’s attorney, in
opposition.

Decided October 3, 2018

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. v. ERIC
LORSON ET AL.

The defendants’ petition for certification to appeal
from the Appellate Court, 183 Conn. App. 200 (AC
38806), is granted, limited to the following issue:

“Did the Appellate Court correctly hold that noncom-
pliance with federal Housing and Urban Development
regulations is a special defense that the defendant must
plead and prove?”

Ridgely Whitmore Brown and Benjamin E. Gershb-
erg, in support of the petition.

David M. Bizar, in opposition.

Decided October 3, 2018
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KATIE N. CONROY v. AMMAR A. IDLIBI

The defendant’s petition for certification to appeal
from the Appellate Court, 183 Conn. App. 460 (AC
39538), is denied.

Ammar A. Idlibi, self-represented, in support of
the petition.

Decided October 3, 2018

DAB THREE, LLC v. LANDAMERICA FINANCIAL
GROUP, INC., ET AL.

The plaintiff’s petition for certification to appeal from
the Appellate Court, 183 Conn. App. 307 (AC 39834),
is denied.

Laurence V. Parnoff, in support of the petition.

Jason A. Buchsbaum, Jonathan S. Bowman and Bar-
bara M. Schellenberg, in opposition.

Decided October 3, 2018

JENZACK PARTNERS, LLC v. STONERIDGE
ASSOCIATES, LLC, ET AL.

The defendant Jennifer Tine’s petition for certifica-
tion to appeal from the Appellate Court, 183 Conn. App.
128 (AC 39880), is granted, limited to the following
issue:

“Did the Appellate Court properly conclude that the
plaintiff had standing to foreclose on the Tine mortgage
because Sovereign Bank had assigned the Stoneridge
note to the plaintiff, even though Sovereign Bank did
not assign the Tine guarantee, for which the Tine mort-
gage was collateral, to the plaintiff?”

Richard P. Weinstein, in support of the petition.
Houston Putnam Lowry, in opposition.

Decided October 3, 2018
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JENZACK PARTNERS, LLC v. STONERIDGE
ASSOCIATES, LLC, ET AL.

The plaintiff’'s cross petition for certification to
appeal from the Appellate Court, 183 Conn. App. 128
(AC 39880), is granted, limited to the following issue:

“Did the Appellate Court properly conclude that
exhibit 22 was not admissible under the business
records exception?”

Houston Putnam Lowry, in support of the petition.
Richard P. Weinstein, in opposition.

Decided October 3, 2018

STATE OF CONNECTICUT v. LEE BALDWIN

The defendant’s petition for certification to appeal
from the Appellate Court, 183 Conn. App. 167 (AC
40283), is denied.

Temmy Ann Miller, assigned counsel, and Daniel M.
Erwin, assigned counsel, in support of the petition.

Laurie N. Feldman, special deputy assistant state’s
attorney, in opposition.

Decided October 3, 2018

STATE OF CONNECTICUT v. RAASHON JACKSON

The defendant’s petition for certification to appeal
from the Appellate Court, 183 Conn. App. 623 (AC
40433), is granted, limited to the following issues:

“1. Did the Appellate Court properly hold that the
trial court’s denial of the motion to preclude the state’s
late disclosed expert witness and related motion for
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continuance was not an abuse of discretion and, even
if an abuse of discretion, was not harmful error?

“2. Did the Appellate Court properly affirm the trial
court’s exclusion of William Smith’s testimony?

“3. Did the Appellate Court properly conclude that
the trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting
evidence regarding the defendant’s failure to appear
in court on unrelated criminal charges as evidence of
consciousness of guilt in this case?

“4. Did the Appellate Court properly conclude that
the defendant had failed to preserve his claim that,
pursuant to State v. Edwards, 325 Conn. 97, 156 A.3d
506 (2017), the trial court was required to hold a hearing
in accordance with State v. Porter, 241 Conn. 57, 698
A.2d 739 (1997), before allowing the state’s expert to
give expert testimony regarding the defendant’s cell
phone location?”

Pamela S. Nagy, assistant public defender, in support
of the petition.

Timothy F. Costello, assistant state’s attorney, in
opposition.

Decided October 3, 2018

GLENN OZTEMEL v. JONATHAN JAMES MORTIMOR
BAILEY ET AL.

The petition by the named defendant and the defen-
dant Claire Bailey for certification to appeal from the
Appellate Court’s order dated July 18, 2018 (AC 41756)
is denied.

Maximino Medina, Jr., and Frances Codd Slusarz,
in support of the petition.

Anthony J. LaBella, in opposition.

Decided October 3, 2018
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ABIN BRITTON v. COMMISSIONER OF CORRECTION
(AC 39407)

Lavine, Keller and Pellegrino, Js.
Syllabus

The petitioner, who had been convicted of the crimes of manslaughter in
the first degree, kidnapping in the first degree and robbery in the first
degree, filed a second petition for a writ of habeas corpus. The petitioner
claimed, inter alia, that his trial counsel and his first habeas counsel,
D, had rendered ineffective assistance, and that he was denied due
process because the trial court did not instruct the jury, in accordance
with State v. Salamon (287 Conn. 509), that he could not be found
guilty of the two kidnapping charges against him if his confinement or
movement of the victim was merely incidental to the commission of
the other crimes charged. The petitioner and two other men, P and S,
had beaten the victim to death after the victim sought to purchase crack
cocaine from the petitioner. After a struggle in the victim’s car, the
petitioner, P and S pulled the victim from the car and beat him until he
lay motionless on the ground, and then the petitioner put the victim in
the backseat of the car. The petitioner, P and S then drove the victim
to a park, removed him from the car and beat him again before they
dragged his body into the park and covered it with dirt and plastic bags.
The petitioner, P and S also took an imitation watch and cash from the
victim during the incident. C, who was a former coworker of the peti-
tioner, gave a statement to the police in which he told them, inter alia,
that the petitioner had told him that the victim was still alive when the
petitioner put the victim in the car. The trial court did not instruct the
jury in accordance with Salamon, which had not been decided at the
time of the petitioner’s criminal trial and direct appeal. The first habeas
court denied the petitioner’s first habeas petition, in which he alleged
that his trial counsel had rendered ineffective assistance. The second
habeas court denied the second habeas petition, concluding, inter alia,
that the petitioner’s claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel was
successive and, thus, barred by the doctrine of res judicata. The habeas
court further concluded that a jury instruction pursuant to Salamon
was not warranted and that even if the petitioner had been entitled to
a Salamon instruction, the absence of such an instruction was harmless
error. The habeas court thereafter denied the petition for certification
to appeal, and the petitioner appealed to this court. Held:

1. The habeas court abused its discretion in denying the petition for certifica-
tion to appeal from the judgment denying the habeas petition; given
the underlying facts, the criminal charges, and the relative newness of
Salamon and its retroactive application, the petitioner’s Salamon claim
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was adequate to deserve encouragement to proceed further, as the issues
it raised had not been entirely settled by our Supreme Court.

2. The habeas court properly determined that the petitioner was not denied
his statutory and constitutional rights to due process and to the effective
assistance of his first habeas counsel:

a. The petitioner could not prevail on his claim that he was denied his
constitutional right to due process when he was convicted of kidnapping
without the jury having been given a Salamon instruction, as the second
habeas court properly determined that the trial court’s failure to give
a Salamon instruction was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt: the
evidence demonstrated that the petitioner engaged in several offenses
during which he restrained and moved the victim in a manner that was
not merely incidental to or necessary for the commission of assault or
robbery, as no reasonable juror could have concluded that the restraint
or movement imposed on the victim after he was beaten and lying
motionless on the ground of the parking lot was necessary for the
commission of the robbery, and driving the victim to the park was not
necessary to inflict physical injury on him; moreover, the offenses were
separated by distinct periods of time and by more movement or restraint
of movement, and the omitted element was uncontested and supported
by overwhelming evidence such that the jury’s verdict would have been
the same absent the trial court’s error.

b. The habeas court properly determined that the petitioner’s claim of
ineffective assistance of trial counsel in his second habeas petition was
successive and, therefore, barred by the doctrine of res judicata; because
the claim alleged no new facts that were not known at the time of the
first habeas trial, it was not an abuse of discretion for the habeas court
to deny the petition for certification to appeal with respect to that claim,
which did not concern an issue that was debatable among jurists of
reason that a court could resolve in a different manner, nor did it deserve
encouragement to proceed further.

c. The habeas court properly determined that the petitioner’s statutory
and constitutional rights to the effective assistance of his first habeas
counsel, D, were not violated: the petitioner failed to demonstrate that
D was ineffective with respect to his investigation of trial counsel’s
assistance regarding the suppression of the petitioner’s statement to
the police, or that D was ineffective by failing to investigate and subpoena
witnesses to demonstrate that the first responders to the crime scene
mishandled the victim’s body, and the petitioner’s claim that D was
ineffective by failing to introduce exculpatory evidence to show the
contradiction between C’s statement to the police and C’s trial testimony
was unavailing, as the petitioner presented no evidence that the habeas
court considered exculpatory, the jury was apprised of the contradiction
between C’s statement to the police and his trial testimony, and our
Supreme Court previously rejected a similar claim made by P in his
direct appeal from his conviction in which he challenged the admission
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of C’s statement to the police; moreover, D was not ineffective for failing
to raise a Salamon claim in the first habeas petition, as the movements
and restraints of the victim had independent criminal significance and,
thus, the underlying facts would not have warranted a Salamon
instruction.

Argued March 8—officially released October 16, 2018
Procedural History

Amended petition for a writ of habeas corpus,
brought to the Superior Court in the judicial district
of Tolland and tried to the court, Fuger, J.; judgment
denying the petition; thereafter, the court denied the
petition for certification to appeal, and the petitioner
appealed to this court. Affirmed.

Michael W. Brown, assigned counsel, for the appel-
lant (petitioner).

Michael L. Regan, state’s attorney, for the appellee
(respondent).

Opinion

LAVINE, J. The petitioner, Abin Britton, appeals fol-
lowing the second habeas court’s denial of his petition
for certification to appeal from that court’s denial of
his second petition for a writ of habeas corpus. On
appeal, the petitioner claims that the second habeas
court, Fuger, J., (1) abused its discretion by denying his
petition for certification to appeal, and (2) improperly
concluded that he was not denied the constitutional
right to due process because the jury was not instructed
pursuant to State v. Salamon, 287 Conn. 509, 949 A.2d
1092 (2008), to the effective assistance of trial counsel
and to the effective assistance of first habeas counsel.
Although we agree that the second habeas court abused
its discretion by denying the petitioner certification to
appeal, we disagree that the court improperly denied
his second petition for a writ of habeas corpus and,
therefore, affirm the judgment of the second habeas
court.
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The present appeal has its factual roots in the brutal
murder of the victim, James Connor, in the early morn-
ing hours of August 23, 1998.! See State v. Britton, 283
Conn. 598, 600, 929 A.2d 312 (2007). Pursuant to our
plenary review of the petitioner’s claims, we have
reviewed the entire record, which includes the tran-
script of the petitioner’s criminal trial that was held in
November and December, 2004. On the basis of the
evidence in the record, we conclude that the jury rea-
sonably could have found that on the night of August
22, 1998, the victim visited his parents on their boat in
the Essex Marina and left at approximately 11:30 p.m.
to go the Black Seal, an Essex restaurant and bar. Some-
time after midnight, he drove his father’'s Saab to
Lucky’s Café (Lucky’s) in New London in search of
cocaine. The petitioner, Gregory Pierre, Jeffrey Smith
(perpetrators) and their friend, Junito Jarvis, were pre-
sent at Lucky’s when the victim arrived. The victim
approached the petitioner and asked him if he had any
crack cocaine. The petitioner did not have any crack
“on [him],” but he knew where to get some. The victim
drove himself and Pierre to a New London apartment
complex where Pierre lived and parked in the parking
lot. Jarvis drove the petitioner and Smith to a spot on
Michael Road that was adjacent to the parking lot. Jarvis
was able to see the Saab and observe the perpetrators
from where he was parked.

The victim remained in the Saab, but Pierre went to
his apartment. When he returned, Pierre walked to the
driver’s side of the Saab, where the petitioner and Smith
joined him some minutes later. Thereafter, all three of
the perpetrators got into the Saab where a struggle

! When Jeffrey Smith, another of the perpetrators, was sentenced, the
sentencing court, Schimelman, J., “found that the incident was ‘vicious’
and it was done for ‘a few dollars and a fake wristwatch.’” State v. Smith,
Superior Court, judicial district of New London, Docket No. KNLCR-99-

250704, 2012 WL 5278688, *1 (October 10, 2012) (sentence review division).
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ensued. The perpetrators got out of the Saab, and pulled
the struggling victim out of the vehicle and beat him
until he lay motionless on the ground. Jarvis remained
in his car, witnessed the beating and saw the petitioner
pick up the victim and put him on the backseat of the
Saab. The petitioner told Norman L. Carr that the victim
was still alive when he put him in the Saab. The perpe-
trators got back into the Saab and drove to a parking
lot in Bates Woods, a New London park.” At Bates
Woods, the perpetrators removed the victim from the
Saab and beat him again. The petitioner took a pipe
from the Saab, rammed it into the victim’s mouth and
twisted it.? The perpetrators dragged the victim’s body
into Bates Woods and covered it with dirt and plastic
bags. During the incident, the perpetrators took an imi-
tation Rolex watch and $90 from the victim.

2 Jarvis testified at trial that he remained in his vehicle and witnessed
the perpetrators assault the victim in the apartment parking lot. When the
perpetrators drove away from the apartment parking lot, Jarvis was unable
to follow them and went home. Several days later, he visited Smith at his
home. When Jarvis asked, Smith told him that the victim died at Bates Woods.

3 On February 16, 1999, Carr gave a written statement to the state police.
Carr stated in part that in the summer of 1998, the perpetrators helped him
get a job with a cleaning company. Company employees traveled together
in a van to and from work sites. As they were being driven home one day,
Carr overheard the petitioner and Pierre talking about the victim’s murder.
Carr asked them what they were talking about. The petitioner told Carr
how the victim had come to Lucky’s, how the perpetrators and the victim
drove to Pierre’s, how the perpetrators beat the victim and drove him to
Bates Woods and beat him again. Carr also stated that the petitioner “started
to brag and said that he took a pole and placed it into the [victim’s] mouth.
[The petitioner] said that he really jammed the pole down his throat and
then twisted the pole to break his neck. [The petitioner] said that prior to
doing this with the pole, the [victim] was still alive but after he did this,
the [victim] died immediately.” At the petitioner’s criminal trial, Carr did
not remember his conversation with the petitioner and could not testify
about it.

Prior to the start of the petitioner’s criminal trial, Carr was interviewed
by an investigator from the chief public defender’s office, Ligia Werner. In
her interview report, Werner indicated that Carr had no recollection of his
conversation with the petitioner or the contents of his statement. See part
IIT of this opinion.
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At approximately 6:30 a.m. on August 23, 1998, the
Waterford police discovered the Saab partially sub-
merged in a duck pond behind the police station. They
used the license plate number to identify the Saab’s
owner, the victim’s father, Donald Connor. Members of
the New London Police Department impounded the
Saab, and, along with the state police, conducted an
investigation. During their investigation, the police dis-
covered two palm prints on the door posts of the Saab.
The windshield of the Saab was cracked and the rear-
view mirror was missing. In addition, investigators
found red and brown stains inside the Saab, including
on the rear seat, the door panels, and the visor over
the driver’s seat, which led the police to believe that
someone had been injured.

In January, 1999, a badly decomposed human body
was found in Bates Woods. Harold Wayne Carver II, the
state’s chief medical examiner, identified the remains
as those of the victim and classified the manner of his
death as a homicide.! The police identified the peti-
tioner, Pierre and Smith as suspects. At the request of
the police, the petitioner accompanied the New London
police to the station, provided them with his palm prints
and gave them a statement regarding his involvement
in the victim’s death. He subsequently was arrested, as
were Smith and Pierre, and charged in connection with
the victim’s murder.

On July 10, 2001, the state filed a substitute informa-
tion, charging the petitioner with six crimes: capital
felony in violation of General Statutes § 53a-54b (5),
murder in violation of General Statutes § 53a-64a (a),
felony murder in violation of General Statutes § 53a-54c,
kidnapping in the first degree in violation of General

¢ During the course of his autopsy of the victim, Carver discovered that
the victim had suffered several broken ribs and that his jaw and facial bones
had been fractured.
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Statutes § 53a-92 (a) (2) (A), kidnapping in the first
degree in violation of General Statutes § 53a-92 (a) (2)
(B), and robbery in the first degree in violation of Gen-
eral Statutes § 53a-134 (a) (1).° Following the presenta-
tion of evidence,’ a jury of twelve found the petitioner
guilty of one count of felony murder, one count of
manslaughter in the first degree in violation of General
Statutes § 53a-55 (a) (1), two counts of kidnapping in
the first degree, and one count of robbery in the first
degree. See Britton v. Commaissioner of Correction,
141 Conn. App. 641, 645, 61 A.3d 1188, cert. denied, 308
Conn. 946, 67 A.3d 290 (2013).

The trial court, Schimelman, J., merged the petition-
er’'s manslaughter conviction with the felony murder

> With respect to the capital felony charge, the state’s attorney alleged
that the petitioner, with intent to cause the death of the victim, whom he
had kidnapped, did cause the death of the victim during the course of
the kidnapping.

In count four of the substitute information, the state’s attorney accused
the “[petitioner] of kidnapping in the first degree and charge[d] that at the
city of New London and the town of Waterford on or about the 23rd day
of August, 1998, [the petitioner] did abduct [the victim] and restrained [the
victim] with intent to inflict physical injury upon [the victim] in violation
of § 53a-92 (a) (2) (A) of said statutes.”

In count five of the substitute information, the state’s attorney accused
the “[petitioner] of kidnapping in the first degree and charge[d] that at the
city of New London and the town of Waterford on or about the 23rd day
of August, 1998, the [petitioner] did abduct [the victim] and [restrained] the
victim with intent to accomplish and advance the commission of a robbery
in violation of [§] 53a-92 (a) (2) (B) of said statutes.”

In count six of the substitute information, the state’s attorney accused
the “[petitioner] of robbery in the first degree and charge[d] that at the city
of New London and the town of Waterford on or about the 23rd day of
August, 1998, the [petitioner], in the course of the commission of the crime
of robbery and of immediate flight therefrom, the [petitioner, Smith and
Pierre] caused serious physical injury to [the victim], who was not a partici-
pant in the crime, in violation of [§] 53a-134 (a) (1) of said statutes.”

5The petitioner’s theory of defense was that he could not be guilty of
capital murder because he did not have the intent to cause the death of the
victim and that he was not the one who killed the victim. He argued that
the incident was a drug deal gone badly and that the victim died in a
manner that was not planned. The petitioner conceded, however, that he
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conviction and rendered judgment in accordance with
the jury’s verdict. Id. The court sentenced the petitioner
to sixty years in prison on the manslaughter conviction,
twenty-five years on each of the kidnapping counts and
twenty years on the robbery conviction. The kidnapping
and robbery sentences were to be served concurrently
and consecutive to the manslaughter conviction,
resulting in an effective term of eighty-five years in
prison. The petitioner’s conviction was affirmed on
direct appeal to our Supreme Court.” State v. Britton,
supra, 283 Conn. 598.

After our Supreme Court affirmed the petitioner’s
conviction, the self-represented petitioner filed a peti-
tion for a writ of habeas corpus in November, 2007
(first habeas petition). Appointed habeas counsel
amended the first habeas petition, alleging that the peti-
tioner was denied the effective assistance of trial coun-
sel.® See Britton v. Commissioner of Correction, supra,
141 Conn. App. 646. The first habeas court, Schuman,
J., denied the first habeas petition and the petition for
certification to appeal. Id. The petitioner appealed to
this court. This court dismissed the appeal; id., 669; and
our Supreme Court denied certification to appeal. See
Britton v. Commissioner of Correction, 308 Conn. 946,
67 A.3d 290 (2013).

was involved in the incident and that the state had proved that he assaulted
and robbed the victim.

7On direct appeal, the petitioner claimed that the trial court improperly
denied his motion to suppress the statements he gave to the police, and
denied him a fair trial and an impartial jury by explaining to the jury that
if it found him guilty of capital felony, it would hear evidence regarding
aggravating factors during the penalty phase of the trial. See State v. Britton,
supra, 283 Conn. 600-601.

8 The petitioner alleged that his trial counsel “rendered ineffective assis-
tance by failing (1) to adequately advise him regarding a plea offer, (2) to offer
the petitioner’s testimony on the circumstances of his giving a statement
to police about his involvement in the victim’s death and (3) to object to
the trial court’s preliminary instructions to the venire panel.” Britton v.
Commissioner of Correction, supra, 141 Conn. App. 646.
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The self-represented petitioner filed the present peti-
tion for a writ of habeas corpus in October, 2011. On
March 24, 2016, appointed counsel filed the second
revised amended petition (second habeas petition)
alleging that the petitioner’s constitutional rights were
violated because he was denied (1) the effective assis-
tance of trial counsel,’ (2) the effective assistance of
first habeas counsel' and (3) a fair trial because the trial
court’s jury instruction with respect to the kidnapping
charges did not comply with Luurtsema v. Commis-
stoner of Correction, 299 Conn. 740, 12 A.3d 817 (2011),
State v. Sanseverino, 287 Conn. 608, 949 A.2d 1156
(2008),'* and State v. Salamon, supra, 287 Conn. 509.
With respect to his claim pursuant to Salamon, the
petitioner alleged that if the jury had been charged
pursuant to Salamon, it would not have found him guilty
of either of the counts of kidnapping in the first degree.

The second habeas court denied the second habeas
petition in a memorandum of decision issued on June
23, 2016. The court found that (1) the petitioner’s claim
of ineffective assistance of trial counsel was successive
and, therefore, was barred by the doctrine of res judi-
cata; (2) that the petitioner had failed to demonstrate

% Attorney Kevin Barrs and Attorney M. Fred DeCaprio represented the
petitioner at his criminal trial. In his second habeas petition, the petitioner
alleged that his trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance with respect
to (1) the motion to suppress his statement to the police, (2) the investigation
of first responders’ handling of the victim’s body, and (3) contradictions
between Carr’s statement to the police and his trial testimony.

10 Attorney Christopher Duby represented the petitioner at the first habeas
trial. The petitioner alleged that Duby’s representation was ineffective with
respect to (1) the motion to suppress the petitioner’s statement to the police,
(2) the investigation of the first responders’ handling of the victim’s body,
(3) contradictions between Carr’s statement to the police and his trial testi-
mony, and (4) the failure to raise a Salamon claim.

I Sanseverino was overruled in part by State v. DeJesus, 288 Conn. 418,
437, 953 A.2d 45 (2008), and superseded in part after reconsideration by
State v. Sanseverino, 291 Conn. 574, 579, 969 A.2d 710 (2009).
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that his first habeas counsel rendered ineffective assis-
tance by failing to prove that trial counsel’s perfor-
mance was ineffective; and (3) a reasonable fact finder
clearly could have determined that the petitioner’s
restraint or movement of the victim was not merely
incidental to the other offenses!? and, therefore, a Sala-
mon instruction was not warranted. The second habeas
court denied the petitioner certification to appeal.

The petitioner appealed to this court, claiming that
the second habeas court abused its discretion by deny-
ing certification to appeal. He also claimed that his
constitutional right to due process was violated because
he was convicted of kidnapping without the jury having
been instructed “to determine whether the victim was
restrained to an extent exceeding that which was neces-
sary to accomplish or complete the other crimes.” See
State v. Salamon, supra, 287 Conn. 542. In addition, the
petitioner claims that his constitutional right to the
effective assistance of trial counsel was violated, and
that his statutory and constitutional rights to the effec-
tive assistance of habeas counsel were violated. We
agree that the second habeas court abused its discretion
by denying the petition for certification to appeal, but
we disagree that the court erred by denying the second
petition for a writ of habeas corpus.

12 The court’s conclusion is an inaccurate statement of the standard govern-
ing Salamon claims raised in a collateral proceeding. The standard set forth
in Hinds v. Commissioner of Correction, 321 Conn. 56, 136 A.3d 596 (2016),
is whether “a defect in a jury charge which raises a constitutional question
is reversible error if it is reasonably possible that, considering the charge
as a whole, the jury was misled. . . . [T]he test for determining whether a
constitutional error is harmless . . . is whether it appears beyond a reason-
able doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict
obtained. . . . A jury instruction that improperly omits an essential element
from the charge constitutes harmless error [only] if a reviewing court con-
cludes beyond a reasonable doubt that the omitted element was uncontested
and supported by overwhelming evidence, such that the jury verdict would
have been the same absent the error . . . .” (Internal quotation marks
omitted.) Id., 77-78.
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We first consider the petitioner’s claim that the sec-
ond habeas court abused its discretion by denying his
petition for certification to appeal. Although we agree
that the court should have granted the petition for certi-
fication to appeal, the petitioner cannot prevail on the
merits of his claims.

“Faced with the habeas court’s denial of a petition for
certification to appeal, a petitioner can obtain appellate
review of the [denial] of his petition for habeas corpus
only by satisfying the two-pronged test enunciated by
our Supreme Court in Simms v. Warden, 229 Conn.
178, 640 A.2d 601 (1994), and adopted in Simms v.
Warden, 230 Conn. 608, 612, 646 A.2d 126 (1994). First,
he must demonstrate that the denial of his petition for
certification constituted an abuse of discretion. . . .
Second, if the petitioner can show an abuse of discre-
tion, he must prove that the decision of the habeas
court should be reversed on the merits. . . .

“To prove an abuse of discretion, the petitioner must
demonstrate that the [resolution of the underlying claim
involves issues that] are debatable among jurists of
reason, that a court could resolve the issues [in a differ-
ent manner]; or that the questions are adequate to
deserve encouragement to proceed further.” (Internal
quotation marks omitted.) Wright v. Commissioner of
Correction, 111 Conn. App. 179, 181-82, 958 A.2d 225
(2008), cert. denied, 290 Conn. 904, 962 A.2d 796 (2009).

“In determining whether the habeas court abused
its discretion in denying the petitioner’s request for
certification, we necessarily must consider the merits of
the petitioner’s underlying claims to determine whether
the habeas court reasonably determined that the peti-
tioner’s appeal was frivolous. In other words, we review
the petitioner’s substantive claims for the purpose of
ascertaining whether those claims satisfy one or more
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of the three criteria . . . adopted by [our Supreme
Court] for determining the propriety of the habeas
court’s denial of the petition for certification.” (Internal
quotation marks omitted.) Duncan v. Commissioner
of Correction, 171 Conn. App. 635, 645, 157 A.3d 1169,
cert. denied, 325 Conn. 923, 159 A.3d 1172 (2017).

In determining whether the second habeas court
abused its discretion by denying the petitioner certifica-
tion to appeal, we have reviewed the records of the
petitioner’s criminal and second habeas trials and the
second habeas court’s memorandum of decision. Given
the underlying facts, the criminal charges against the
petitioner, and the relative newness of Salamon and
its retroactive application, we conclude that the peti-
tioner’s Salamon claim is adequate to deserve encour-
agement to proceed further, as the issues it raises are
not entirely settled by our Supreme Court.”® On the
basis of our review of the petitioner’s Salamon claim,
however, we conclude that he cannot prevail on its
merits.

II

The petitioner claims that the second habeas court
improperly determined that he was not denied certain
constitutional and statutory rights. We disagree.

We are mindful that “[t]he habeas court is afforded
broad discretion in making its factual findings, and
those findings will not be disturbed unless they are
clearly erroneous. . . . Historical facts constitute a
recital of external events and the credibility of their
narrators. . . . Accordingly, [t]he habeas judge, as the
trier of facts, is the sole arbiter of the credibility of
witnesses and the weight to be given to their testimony.

13 Although we conclude that the petitioner’s claims of ineffective assis-
tance of trial and habeas counsel are frivolous, they are interwoven with
his Salamon claim.
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. . . The application of the habeas court’s factual find-
ings to the pertinent legal standard, however, presents
a mixed question of law and fact, which is subject to
plenary review.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.)
Thomas v. Commissioner of Correction, 141 Conn.
App. 465, 470, 62 A.3d 534, cert. denied, 308 Conn. 939,
66 A.3d 881 (2013).

A

The petitioner claims that the habeas court improp-
erly concluded that his constitutional right to due pro-
cess was not violated when he was convicted of
kidnapping without the jury being instructed to deter-
mine whether the victim was restrained to an extent
exceeding that which was necessary to accomplish or
complete the other crimes charged. We do not agree,
given the particular facts of the present case.

We first set forth the law applicable to the petitioner’s
Salamon claim. “[IJt is well established that a defect
in a jury charge which raises a constitutional question
is reversible error if it is reasonably possible that, con-
sidering the charge as a whole, the jury was misled.
. . . [T]he test for determining whether a constitutional
error is harmless . . . is whether it appears beyond a
reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not
contribute to the verdict obtained. . . . A jury instruc-
tion that improperly omits an essential element from the
charge constitutes harmless error [only] if a reviewing
court concludes beyond a reasonable doubt that the
omitted element was uncontested and supported by
overwhelming evidence, such that a jury verdict would

have been the same absent the error . . . . The failure
to charge in accordance with Salamon is viewed as an
omission of an essential element . . . and thus gives

rise to constitutional error.” (Citations omitted; internal
quotation marks omitted.) Hinds v. Commissioner of
Correction, 321 Conn. 56, 77-78, 136 A.3d 596 (2016).
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Our kidnapping law has changed substantially since
the petitioner was convicted of kidnapping in violation
of § 53a-92 (a) (2) (A) and (B) in 2005.1* At that time,
our Supreme Court had established that “all that is
required under the [kidnapping] statute is that the
defendant have abducted the victim and restrained [the
victim] with the requisite intent. . . . Under the afore-
mentioned definitions, the abduction requirement is sat-
isfied when the defendant restrains the victim with the
intent to prevent her liberation through the use of physi-
cal force. . . . Nowhere in this language is there a
requirement of movement on the part of the victim.
Rather, we read the language of the statute as allowing
the restriction of movement alone to serve as the basis
for kidnapping. . . . [O]ur legislature has not seen fit
to merge the offense of kidnapping with other felonies,
nor impose any time requirements for restraint, nor
distance requirements for asportation, to the crime of
kidnapping. . . . Furthermore, any argument that
attempts to reject the propriety of a kidnapping charge
on the basis of the fact that the underlying conduct was
integral or incidental to the crime of sexual assault also
must fail.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) Pereira
v. Commissioner of Correction, 176 Conn. App. 762,
768, 171 A.3d 105, cert. denied, 327 Conn. 984, 175 A.3d
43 (2017).

In 2008, however, our Supreme Court reinterpreted
our kidnapping statutes in State v. Salamon, supra,
287 Conn. 542. “Our legislature, in replacing a single,
broadly worded kidnapping provision with a gradated
scheme that distinguishes kidnappings from unlawful
restraints by the presence of an intent to prevent a

! The petitioner was convicted of the underlying crimes in January, 2005;
Salamon was decided in 2008. Our Supreme Court made its holding in
Salamon retroactive with respect to collateral attacks on a kidnapping
conviction in Luurtsema v. Commissioner of Correction, supra, 299
Conn. 740.
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victim’s liberation, intended to exclude from the scope
of the more serious crime of kidnapping and its accom-
panying severe penalties those confinements or move-
ments of a victim that are merely incidental to and
necessary for the commission of another crime against
that victim. Stated otherwise, to commit a kidnapping
in conjunction with another crime, a defendant must
intend to prevent the victim’s liberation for a longer
period of time or to a greater degree than that which
is necessary to commit the other crime.” Id.

“Our Supreme Court further noted that [w]hen that
confinement or movement is merely incidental to the
commission of another crime, however, the confine-
ment or movement must have exceeded that which was
necessary to commit the other crime. [T]he guiding
principle is whether the [confinement or movement]
was so much the part of another substantive crime that
the substantive crime could not have been committed
without such acts . . . . In other words, the test . . .
to determine whether [the] confinements or movements
involved [were] such that kidnapping may also be
charged and prosecuted when an offense separate from
kidnapping has occurred asks whether the confine-
ment, movement, or detention was merely incidental to
the accompanying felony or whether it was significant
enough, in and of itself, to warrant independent prose-
cution. . . . Conversely, a defendant may be convicted
of both kidnapping and another substantive crime if,
at any time prior to, during or after the commission
of that other crime, the victim is moved or confined
n a way that has independent criminal significance,
that 1is, the victim was 7restrained to an extent
exceeding that which was necessary to accomplish or
complete the other crime.” (Emphasis added; internal
quotation marks omitted.) Robles v. Commissioner of
Correction, 169 Conn. App. 751, 755, 153 A.3d 29 (2016),
cert. denied, 325 Conn. 901, 157 A.3d 1146 (2017).
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“IA] defendant may be convicted of both kidnapping
and another substantive crime if, at any time prior to,
during or after the commission of that other crime, the
victim is moved or confined in a way that has indepen-
dent criminal significance, that is, the victim was
restrained to an extent exceeding that which was neces-
sary to accomplish or complete the other crime.
Whether the movement or confinement of the victim
is merely incidental to and necessary for another crime
will depend on the particular facts and circumstances of
each case. Consequently, when the evidence reasonably
supports a finding that the restraint was not merely
incidental to the commission of some other, separate
crime, the ultimate factual determination must be made
by the jury. For purposes of making that determination,
the jury should be instructed to consider the various
relevant factors, including the nature and duration of
the victim’s movement or confinement by the [perpetra-
tor], whether that movement or confinement occurred
during the commission of the separate offense, whether
the restraint was inherent in the nature of the separate
offense, whether the restraint prevented the victim from
summoning assistance, whether the restraint reduced
the [perpetrator’s] risk of detection and whether the
restraint created a significant danger or increased the
victim’s risk of harm independent of that posed by the
separate offense.” (Emphasis in original; footnote omit-
ted.) State v. Salamon, supra, 287 Conn. 547-48; see
also White v. Commisstoner of Correction, 170 Conn.
App. 415, 428-29, 154 A.3d 1054 (2017) (“if the evidence
regarding the perpetrator’s intent—that is, whether he
or she intended to prevent the victim’s liberation for a
longer period of time or to a greater degree than that
which is necessary to commit the other crime—is sus-
ceptible to more than one interpretation, that question
is one for the jury” [internal quotation marks omitted]).
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In its memorandum of decision,® the second habeas
court noted that the state had charged the petitioner
in a substitute information with two separate counts
of kidnapping: kidnapping in the first degree in violation
of § 53a-92 (a) (2) (A) for abducting and restraining the
victim with the intent to inflict physical injury upon
him, and kidnapping in the first degree in violation of
§ 53a-92 (a) (2) (B) for abducting and restraining the
victim with attempt to accomplish and advance the
commission of a robbery.

The court then set forth the facts as the jury reason-
ably may have found them, as stated in our Supreme
Court’s decision affirming the petitioner’s conviction.
To wit: “[t]he victim bought two small bags of crack
cocaine in exchange for $20, and he and the [petitioner],
with Pierre and Smith following in a separate vehicle,
drove to Pierre’s apartment complex in New London
so that the victim could use the drugs he had just pur-
chased. Once they arrived at the apartment complex,
Pierre, Smith and the [petitioner] pulled the victim out
of the Saab and beat him. When this attack ceased, the
victim was badly injured but still alive. The three men
then put the victim into the backseat of the Saab and
brought him to a nearby parking lot abutting Bates
Woods, a park in New London. They pulled the victim
out of the car once more, and this time beat him to
death. Pierre, Smith and the [petitioner] then dragged
the victim’s body into Bates Woods, where they covered
the body with dirt and plastic bags. The [petitioner]
disposed of the victim’s Saab by pushing it into a small
pond behind the Waterford police department. State v.

5 The second habeas court addressed the substance of the petitioner’s
Salamon claim in association with the petitioner’s claim that his first habeas
counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to raise a Salamon claim
in the first habeas petition. The court incorporated its Salamon analysis
when it addressed the petitioner’s stand-alone Salamon claim.
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Britton, supra, 283 Conn. 601-602.” (Internal quotation
marks omitted.)

In its memorandum of decision, the second habeas
court quoted the prosecutor’s argument to the jury,
which contended that there were two kidnappings. The
prosecutor stated, in relevant part: “Now, the kidnap-
ping in the first degree; there’s actually two counts, the
fourth and fifth counts [of the substitute information].
One kidnapping is distinguished from the other because
one is that [the victim] was restrained with the intent,
that is, the intent from not letting him [get free], and
they restrained him with the intent to inflict physical
injury upon him. The state asserts that this actually
happened on several occasions, this kidnapping. The
[perpetrators] restrained [the victim] when they got into
his Saab, when they got into his car at Michael Road,
he was restrained there. In fact, the evidence is as
[Jarvis] told us, that he was pulled out of the car and,
as he was being pulled [out of the car, he was kicking
as if he was trying to stay in] the car. The state would
assert that the evidence says that that’s one particular
kidnapping. Then [the victim] is put back into his own
car and driven to Bates Woods. . . .

“Now, the other kidnapping . . . is that a kidnap-
ping, which is, as I indicated, a restraining with . . .
the intent of a felony, and the felony, the state would
assert in this case, was robbery, and the evidence of
the robbery in this case actually comes from several
sources, two of which come from the [petitioner].”
(Internal quotation marks omitted.)

The second habeas court noted that the trial court
charged the jury extensively with respect to kidnapping,
both as a predicate for the capital felony'® and felony

16 Judge Schimelman charged the jury with respect to capital felony, in
part, as follows: “The first count of the information accuses [the petitioner]
of capital felony and charges that at the city of New London and town of
Waterford on or about the twenty-third day of August, 1998, the [petitioner],
with intent to cause the death of [the victim], whom he had kidnapped, did
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murder charges,!” as well as for the separate kidnapping

cause the death of [the victim] during the course of the kidnapping and
before [the victim] was able to return and be returned to safety . . . .

“The second essential element of the crime of capital felony . . . is that
the [petitioner] kidnapped another person . . . [the victim]. For purposes
of this first count, our Penal Code provides [that] a person is guilty of
kidnapping when he abducts another person. . . .

“Abduct means to restrain a person with intent to prevent his liberation
by either A, secreting or holding him in a place where he is not likely to
be found or, B, using or threatening to use physical force or intimidation.

“Restrain means to restrict a person’s movements intentionally and unlaw-
fully in such manner as to interfere substantially with his liberty, by moving
him from one place to another or by confining him in the place where either
the restriction began or in a place to which he had been moved without
consent. Without consent includes but is not limited to deception. The
abduction and the restraining must be intentional. There must be an intent
to interfere substantially with the alleged victim’s liberty either by, one,
secreting or hiding him in a place where he is not likely to be found or,
two, by using or threatening to use physical force or intimidation.”

17 Judge Schimelman charged the jury with respect to felony murder, in
part, as follows: “There are three essential elements, each of which the state
must prove beyond a reasonable doubt for you to find [the petitioner] guilty
of felony murder. One, the [petitioner], acting with one or more persons,
committed the crime of kidnapping or the crime of robbery; two, the death
of [the victim] was caused by the [petitioner] or another participant, and
that person whose death was caused was not a participant in the predicate
crime of robbery or kidnapping; and three, the [petitioner] or another partici-
pant caused the death of [the victim] in the course of or in furtherance of
the commission of the crime of kidnapping or robbery or of flight there-
from. . . .

“First, with respect to the predicate crime of kidnapping for the purpose
of [felony murder], a person is guilty of kidnapping when he abducts another
person. [The court repeated its instruction regarding abduction and
restraint.] . . . Kidnapping is a continuing crime that commences once a
person is wrongfully deprived of freedom and continues for as long as that
unlawful detention lasts. The law which makes kidnapping criminal punishes
interference with personal liberty and restricting the alleged victim’s free-
dom of movement. You cannot convict the [petitioner] of kidnapping unless
you first find that there was a restriction of movement and that it was done
intentionally, that it was done without right or authority of law, and that it had
the effect of interfering substantially with the alleged victim’s liberty. . . .

“With respect to the other predicate crime of robbery for purposes of
[felony murder], a person commits robbery when, in the course of commit-
ting a larceny, he uses or threatens the immediate use of physical force
upon another person for the purpose of preventing or overcoming resistance
to the taking of the property or to the retention thereof immediately after
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counts,’® and robbery in the first degree," but that the

the taking or compelling the owner of such property to deliver up the
property or to engage in other conduct which aids in the commission of
the larceny. . . .

“A larceny is a theft or stealing. A person commits larceny when, with
intent to deprive another person of property or to appropriate the same to
himself or a third person, he wrongfully takes, obtains, or withholds such
property from an owner.”

8 Judge Schimelman charged the jury with respect to the kidnapping
counts, in relevant part, as follows:

“For you to find the [petitioner] directly committed the crime of kidnap-
ping in the first degree, § 53a-92 (a) (2) (A), as a principal, the state must
prove each of the following essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt:
One, the [petitioner] abducted the alleged victim, two, the [petitioner] unlaw-
fully restrained the person he abducted and, three, he did so with intent to
inflict physical injury on the alleged victim. [The court iterated its instruc-
tions regarding abduction, restraint, and kidnapping.] . . .

“Again, the term physical force has its everyday meaning. It includes any
violence or superior physical strength against the alleged victim. It is for
you to decide whether the evidence proves that physical force was used
by the [petitioner], and whether it actually produced and resulted in the
accomplishment of the restraint which is charged here.

“The third essential element of kidnapping in the first degree in violation
of § 53a-92 (a) (2) (A) is that the [petitioner] abducted and restrained the
alleged victim . . . with the intent to inflict physical injury upon him. Physi-
cal injury means an impairment of physical condition or pain. . . .

“The fifth count of the information accuses [the petitioner] of the crime
of kidnapping in the first degree and charges . . . that [the petitioner] did
abduct [the victim] and restrained [the victim] with intent to accomplish
and advance the commission of a robbery in violation of § 53a-92 (a) (2)
(B) . . . . [T]he state must prove each of the following essential elements
beyond a reasonable doubt: One, the [petitioner] abducted the alleged victim,
two, the [petitioner] unlawfully restrained the person he abducted and,
three, he did so with the intent to accomplish or advance the commission
of a felony, here, the crime of robbery.”

19 With respect to robbery in the first degree, Judge Schimelman charged
the jury in relevant part: “The sixth . . . count of the information accuses
[the petitioner] of robbery in the first degree and . . . [charges that] in the
course of the commission of the crime of robbery and of immediate flight
therefrom, [the perpetrators] caused serious physical injury to [the victim],
who was not a participant in the crime. . . . In order to find the [petitioner]
guilty of this crime . . . the state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt,
one, the [petitioner] committed a robbery and, two, in the course of the
commission of that robbery or immediate flight therefrom, the [petitioner]
or another participant in the crime caused serious physical injury to a person
who was not a participant in the crime. . . .
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instructions did not comport with Salamon. The second
habeas court stated that it was not disputed that the
jury found that the victim was moved or restrained at
least two separate times, as alleged in the kidnapping
counts: once to facilitate injury to the victim and once
to rob him. According to the second habeas court, these
movements or restrictions of the victim had a clearly
defined and distinct significance from each other and
from the other charged offenses. The court also con-
cluded that “areasonable fact finder could clearly deter-
mine that the restraint and/or movement of the victim
[were] not merely incidental to the other offenses. That
is, the movements and/or confinements had indepen-
dent criminal significance.”™ The court, therefore,
denied the petitioner's Salamon claim because the
underlying facts would not have warranted a Salamon
instruction. Moreover, the court stated, even if the peti-
tioner were entitled to a Salamon instruction, the
absence of such an instruction was harmless error.*!
We agree with the second habeas court that the failure
to give a Salamon instruction was harmless beyond a
reasonable doubt.

In addition to the two kidnapping charges, the peti-
tioner was charged with capital felony, murder, felony
murder and robbery. In such circumstances, State v.
Fields, 302 Conn. 236, 247, 24 A.3d 1243 (2011), instructs
that ordinarily a Salamon instruction should have been

“Serious physical injury means physical injury which creates a substantial
risk of death or which causes serious impairment of health or serious loss
or impairment of any function of any bodily organ for purposes of this
sixth count.”

% But see footnote 12 of this opinion regarding the proper standard govern-
ing Salamon claims.

2 In support of its conclusion that the error in failing to give a Salamon
instruction, if any, was harmless, the second habeas court cited State v.
Hampton, 293 Conn. 435, 455-64, 988 A.2d 167 (2009) (lack of Salamon
instruction harmless error given particular facts), and State v. Nelson, 118
Conn. App. 831, 834-36, 856, 986 A.2d 311 (same), cert. denied, 295 Conn.
911, 989 A.2d 1074 (2010).
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given. At his criminal trial, the petitioner all but con-
ceded that the perpetrators robbed and assaulted the
victim. See footnote 6 of this opinion. Given his conces-
sion, his defense focused on the capital felony and mur-
der charges.?

If a reviewing court determines that a Salamon
instruction on incidental restraint should have been
given, it must then determine whether the failure to
give the instruction was harmful. In Luurtsema v. Com-
missioner of Correction, supra, 299 Conn. 740, our
Supreme Court stated that “the proper standard to
[determine whether a petitioner’s kidnapping convic-
tion requires reversal due to the omission of a Salamon
instruction] would be the harmless error standard
applied on direct appeal. . . . On direct appeal, [i]t is
well established that a defect in a jury charge which
raises a constitutional question is reversible error if it
is reasonably possible that, considering the charge as
a whole, the jury was misled. . . . [T]he test for
determining whether a constitutional error is harmless

. is whether it appears beyond a reasonable doubt
that the error complained of did not contribute to the
verdict obtained. . . . A jury instruction that improp-
erly omits an essential element from the charge consti-
tutes harmless error [only] if a reviewing court
concludes beyond a reasonable doubt that the omitted
element was uncontested and supported by overwhelm-
ing evidence, such that the jury verdict would have

been the same absent the error . . . . The failure to
charge in accordance with Salamon is viewed as an
omission of an essential element . . . and thus gives

rise to constitutional error.” (Citations omitted; internal

2 The record contains no evidence as to precisely when the perpetrators
took the victim’s watch and money. The robbery, therefore, is central to
our analysis of the petitioner’s Salamon claim. Robbery generally may be
defined as larceny by force. See State v. Townsend, 206 Conn. 621, 626, 539
A.2d 114 (1988). As such, the petitioner contends that the perpetrators’
restraint and movement of the victim was incidental to the crime of robbery.
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quotation marks omitted.) Hinds v. Commissioner of
Correction, supra, 321 Conn. 77-78.

On appeal, the petitioner argues that the two kidnap-
ping charges were based on (1) the alleged restraint
of the victim during the robbery, and (2) the alleged
abduction of the victim from the parking lot to Bates
Woods. The petitioner’s argument assumes that the rob-
bery occurred in the Saab or parking lot where the
victim was first beaten. He analyzed the Salamon risk
factors as follows: With respect to the events that took
place in the parking lot, the petitioner contends that
the state did not allege that the perpetrators confined
the victim at any time during which they were not
attacking him. He argues that the perpetrators
restrained the victim only when they were attacking
him. As a matter of law and as recited in the court’s
instruction on robbery,? the use or threatened use of

% The court instructed the jury [with respect to felony murder] in relevant
part as follows: “In order for you to find the [petitioner] directly committed
the predicate crime of robbery as a principal, the state must prove that the
[petitioner], in the course of committing a larceny, used or threatened the
immediate use of physical force upon another person, that is, [the victim],
to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking of the property or to its
retention or compelling [the victim] to deliver up the property or to engage
in other conduct which aided in the commission of the alleged larceny. . . .

“The gist of the crime of robbery is the act of committing a larceny by
physical force or threat of immediate use of physical force. Like the intent
element of larceny, the remaining essential elements of the offense of rob-
bery must be done intentionally, as I have explained that. Physical force or
the threat of its immediate use is a common, readily understandable expres-
sion having its ordinary meaning. It means the application or threat of
external physical power to another person. Physical force or its immediate
threat must be for the purpose of committing the larceny. Such physical force
must be used or threatened for the purpose of preventing or overcoming
resistance to the taking of the property or to the retention thereof immedi-
ately after the taking or for the purpose of compelling the owner of the
property to deliver up the property or to engage in other conduct which
aids in the commission of the larceny. Robbery requires proof of larceny
by force or the threat of use of force, and proof of larceny requires proof
of a taking of property with the specific intent to deprive the owner of its
possession permanently.”
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physical force is inherent in the crime of robbery. The
evidence, however, demonstrates that the petitioner
moved the victim when he was not being attacked.
Jarvis testified that the perpetrators dragged the victim
from the Saab and beat him motionless. The state con-
tended that the robbery occurred at that point. The
petitioner picked up the motionless victim, put him on
the backseat of the Saab, transported him to Bates
Woods, beat him again and murdered him. Putting the
victim back into the Saab, transporting him to Bates
Woods, and the ensuing violence was not necessary to
the crime of robbery.* Simply put, abducting and mov-
ing the motionless body of the victim exceeded what
was necessary to commit the crime of robbery.

Moreover, it does not matter at exactly which point
in time the perpetrators took the victim’s money and
watch. The taking could have occurred at any number
of points: during the struggle inside the Saab; when the
victim was lying motionless on the ground of the park-
ing lot; while he was lying on the backseat of the Saab;
after he was driven to Bates Woods; or when he was
again pulled from the Saab at Bates Woods. Each of
those potential points of taking are separated in time
and by distinct movements. If the taking occurred dur-
ing the struggle inside the Saab, at a minimum, pulling
the victim from the Saab, beating him, putting him back
in the Saab after he had been beaten motionless was
not incidental to or necessary to the taking. If the taking
occurred when the victim was placed on the backseat
of the Saab after he had been beaten motionless, the
initial struggle in the Saab preceded the taking and was
not incidental or necessary to it, nor was the asportation
to Bates Woods. If the taking occurred after the victim
was dead, restraining the victim in and pulling him from

% On appeal, the petitioner argues that the victim may have been dead
when he was put in the backseat of the Saab. That argument is belied by
the petitioner’s statement to the police that the victim was alive at that time.
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the Saab on two occasions was not incidental to or
necessary to the commission of the taking. Under any
scenario, no reasonable juror could conclude that the
restraint or movement imposed on the victim after he
was beaten and lying motionless on the ground of the
parking lot was mnecessary for the commission of
robbery.

With respect to the kidnapping charge alleging that
the petitioner restrained the victim with the intent to
inflict physical injury upon him, the evidence demon-
strated that the perpetrators restrained the victim in
the Saab and assaulted him, causing him physical injury.
The victim’s blood was detected in the blood splatters
on the visor above the driver’s seat. After restraining
the victim and causing him physical injuries, the perpe-
trators exceeded what was necessary to commit assault
with the intent to cause physical injury by removing
the struggling victim from the Saab and beating him
motionless. As to the kidnapping charge that the peti-
tioner abducted and restrained the victim in order to
inflict physical injury, the evidence demonstrates that
the victim was placed in the backseat of the Saab, after
he had been beaten and rendered motionless, trans-
ported to Bates Woods, beaten and murdered. Driving
the victim to Bates Woods was not necessary to inflict
physical injury on the victim. That was accomplished
initially during the struggle in the Saab and again when
he was beaten while he was lying motionless on the
parking lot.

In White v. Commissioner of Correction, supra, 170
Conn. App. 430-31, this court noted that in Hinds v.
Commissioner of Correction, supra, 321 Conn. 92-93,
our Supreme Court categorized Salamon incidental
restraint cases depending on the degree of confinement
and movement. “Although no minimum period of
restraint or degree of movement is necessary for the
crime of kidnapping, an important facet of cases where
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the trial court has failed to give a Salamon instruction
and that impropriety on appellate review has been
deemed harmless error is that longer periods of
restraint or greater degrees of movement demarcate
separate offenses. See State v. Hampton, [293 Conn.
435, 463-64, 988 A.2d 167 (2009)] (defendant confined
victim in car and drove her around for approximately
three hours before committing sexual assault and
attempted murder); State v. Jordan, [129 Conn. App.
215, 222-23, 19 A.3d 241 (2011)] (evidence showed the
defendant restrained the victims to a greater degree
than necessary to commit the assaults even though
assaultive behavior spanned entire forty-five minute
duration of victims’ confinement) [cert. denied, 302
Conn. 910, 23 A.3d 1248 (2011)]; State v. Strong, [122
Conn. App. 131, 143, 999 A.2d 765] (defendant’s pro-
longed restraint of victim while driving for more than
one hour from one town to another not merely inciden-
tal to threats made prior to the restraint) [cert. denied,
298 Conn. 907, 3 A.3d 73 (2010)]; and State v. Nelson,
[118 Conn. App. 831, 860-62, 986 A.2d 311] (harmless
error when defendant completed assault and then for
several hours drove victim to several locations) [cert.
denied, 295 Conn. 911, 989 A.2d 1074 (2010)]. Thus, as
these cases demonstrate, multiple offenses are more
readily distinguishable—and, consequently, more likely
to render the absence of a Salamon instruction harm-
less—when the offenses are separated by greater time
spans, or by more movement or restriction of move-
ment.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) White v.
Commissioner of Correction, supra, 430-31; see also
Pereira v. Commissioner of Correction, supra, 176
Conn. App. 773-74 (habeas court properly concluded
restraint and confinement of victim occurred separately
from and was completed prior to murder).

The second habeas court cited the Hampton and
Nelson cases in support of its conclusion that the failure
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to give a Salamon instruction in the present case was
harmless error, if any. We agree with the second habeas
court’s conclusion that the failure to give the Salamon
charge in the present case was harmless. The evidence
demonstrates that the petitioner, along with the other
perpetrators, engaged in several offenses during which
he restrained and moved the victim in a manner not
merely incidental to or necessary for the commission
of assault or robbery, and that the offenses were sepa-
rated by distinct periods of time and by more movement
or restraint of movement. Accordingly, with respect to
both charges of kidnapping, we conclude, beyond a
reasonable doubt, that the “omitted element was uncon-
tested and supported by overwhelming evidence such
that the jury verdict would have been the same absent
the error . . . .” (Internal quotation marks omitted.)
Hindsv. Commissioner of Correction, supra, 321 Conn.
77-78. We thus conclude that the “evidence reasonably
supports a finding that the restraint was not merely
incidental to the commission of some other, separate
crime . . . .” (Emphasis in original.) State v. Salamon,
supra, 287 Conn. 547-48.%

% Even though we conclude, on the basis of the facts of this particular
case, that the petitioner’s intent is not susceptible to more than one interpre-
tation; see White v. Commissioner of Correction, supra, 170 Conn. App.
429; we have undertaken an analysis of the six Salamon jury instruction
factors; State v. Salamon, supra, 287 Conn. 547-48; which supports our
conclusion that the petitioner’s restraint and movement of the victim was
more than was necessary to complete the crimes of assault and robbery.

The petitioner’s restraint of the victim was extensive: it began inside the
Saab, continued at the apartment parking lot where he beat him, and contin-
ued when he put the injured victim back in the Saab and drove him to Bates
Woods where he put a pipe in the victim’s mouth and twisted it, resulting
in the victim’s death. The restraint and movement that occurred after the
petitioner beat the victim at the apartment parking lot was unnecessary to
complete the crimes of assault and robbery and, therefore, had independent
significance. The crimes could have been completed prior to returning the
victim to the Saab and driving him to Bates Woods. The petitioner’s restraint
and movement of the badly injured victim from the apartment parking
lot to Bates Woods prevented the victim from summoning assistance. The
petitioner’s moving the victim obviously reduced the petitioner’s risk of
detection. Finally, the petitioner’s restraint and movement of the victim



October 16, 2018 CONNECTICUT LAW JOURNAL Page 29A

185 Conn. App. 388 OCTOBER, 2018 415

Britton v. Commissioner of Correction

For the foregoing reasons, although the second
habeas court should have granted the petitioner certifi-
cation to appeal, the court did not improperly deny his
petition for a writ of habeas corpus with regard to his
allegation that he was denied due process because the
jury was not instructed pursuant to Salamon.

B

The petitioner claims that the habeas court improp-
erly concluded that his claim of ineffective assistance
of trial counsel was barred by the doctrine of res judi-
cata. We disagree.

In its memorandum of decision, the second habeas
court found that the petitioner alleged in the first count
of his second habeas petition that his trial counsel ren-
dered deficient performance in that Attorneys Kevin
Barrs and M. Fred DeCaprio (1) presented inadequate
evidence during the hearing on the motion to suppress
the petitioner’s statement to the police, (2) failed to
investigate and demonstrate that the victim’s body was
mishandled by first responders, and (3) failed to intro-
duce exculpatory evidence regarding the contradiction
between Carr’s statement to the police, and a public
defender’s investigation report and his trial testimony.
The respondent, the Commissioner of Correction,
denied the allegations and averred that the ineffective
assistance of counsel claim was successive because it
was raised in the first habeas petition. The petitioner
replied that the claim in the second habeas petition
does not present the same ground as presented in the
first habeas petition.

The second habeas court cited Carter v. Commsis-
stoner of Correction, 109 Conn. App. 300, 950 A.2d 619

greatly increased the risk of harm to the victim, who was murdered. Under
the circumstances of this case, we conclude that the jury was not misled
by the failure to give the Salamon charge and, therefore, the failure was
harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.
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(2008), for the law concerning successive petitions. “[A]
petitioner may bring successive petitions on the same
legal grounds if the petitions seek different relief. . . .
But where successive petitions are premised on the
same legal grounds and seek the same relief, the second
petition will not survive a motion to dismiss unless
the petition is supported by allegations and facts not
reasonably available to the petitioner at the time of the
original petition.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.)
Id., 306. The second habeas court also noted that Con-
necticut courts repeatedly have applied the doctrine of
res judicata to claims duplicated in successive habeas
petitions. See Moody v. Commissioner of Correction,
127 Conn. App. 293, 297-98, 14 A.3d 408, cert. denied,
300 Conn. 943, 17 A.3d 478 (2011).

The court further determined that the petitioner’s
first habeas petition was premised on four alleged defi-
ciencies of trial counsel. The petitioner requested that
the first habeas court vacate his conviction and sen-
tence, and remand the matter to the criminal court for
further proceedings. The claim of ineffective assistance
of trial counsel in the petitioner’s second habeas peti-
tion is identical to the one in the first habeas petition.
The court stated that unless the petitioner presented
newly discovered evidence that was not reasonably
available at the time of the first habeas trial, the peti-
tioner is barred from relitigating a claim of ineffective
assistance of trial counsel. In addition, the court found
that all of the witnesses at the second habeas trial either
testified at the first habeas trial or were available to
testify at that trial. Moreover, the documentary evidence
the petitioner offered at the second habeas trial con-
tained no new evidence, let alone evidence that was
not reasonably available at the time of the first habeas
trial. The court concluded that the claim of ineffective
assistance of trial counsel alleged in the second habeas
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petition was successive and was therefore barred by
the doctrine of res judicata.

The petitioner’s claim of ineffective assistance of trial
counsel centers on the admission into evidence of Carr’s
February 16, 1999 statement to the police regarding a
conversation he had had with the petitioner about the
victim’s death. Carr testified at the petitioner’s criminal
trial, but he could not remember his conversation with
the petitioner and could not testify about it. He remem-
bered signing the statement he gave to the police, but
he claimed that the police made it up. Carr’s statement
to the police was admitted into evidence as a prior
inconsistent statement pursuant to State v. Whelan, 200
Conn. 743, 753, 513 A.2d 86, cert. denied, 479 U.S. 994,
107 S. Ct. 597, 93 L. Ed. 2d 598 (1986).

On appeal, the petitioner claims that his trial counsel
were deficient in failing to present evidence that Carr’s
trial testimony that he had no recollection of the conver-
sation with the petitioner was consistent with a report
generated by Ligia Werner, an investigator with the
Office of the Chief Public Defender, who interviewed
him on June 25, 2001. Werner’s report indicates that
when she spoke with Carr, he had no recollection of
the conversation with the petitioner or its contents. At
the criminal trial, Carr testified that he had no memory
of Werner’s interview of him. At the second habeas
trial, the petitioner argued that Werner’s report should
have been offered into evidence as Carr’s prior consis-
tent statement.

At the second habeas trial, the petitioner argued that
his trial counsel’s performances were deficient because
they failed to place the facts regarding Werner’s inter-
view with Carr before the jury or to call her as a witness
to substantiate his lack of memory regarding his conver-
sation with the petitioner. The petitioner claims that
trial counsel should have called Werner to testify. The



Page 32A CONNECTICUT LAW JOURNAL October 16, 2018

418 OCTOBER, 2018 185 Conn. App. 388

Britton v. Commissioner of Correction

second habeas court, however, found that the petition-
er’s claim was based on the same legal ground asserted
in his first habeas petition. Moreover, Werner’s report
was known to trial counsel, and Werner was available
to testify at the first habeas trial. The court concluded,
therefore, that the petitioner’s claim was successive.

“The doctrine of res judicata provides that a former
judgment serves as an absolute bar to a subsequent
action involving any claims relating to such cause of
action which were actually made or which might have

been made. . . . The doctrine . . . applies to criminal
as well as civil proceedings and to state habeas corpus
proceedings. . . . However, [u]nique policy considera-

tions must be taken into account in applying the doc-
trine of res judicata to a constitutional claim raised
by a habeas petitioner. . . . Specifically, in the habeas
context, in the interest of ensuring that no one is
deprived of liberty in violation of his or her constitu-
tional rights . . . the application of the doctrine of res
judicata . . . [is limited] to claims that actually have
been raised and litigated in an earlier proceeding.”
(Internal quotation marks omitted.) Kearney v. Com-
missioner of Correction, 113 Conn. App. 223, 233, 965
A.2d 608 (2009).

Our Supreme Court has “recognized only one situa-
tion in which a court is not legally required to hear a
habeas petition. In Negron v. Warden, [180 Conn. 153,
158,429 A.2d 841 (1980), the court] observed that pursu-
ant to Practice Book § . . . [23-29], [i]f a previous appli-
cation brought on the same grounds was denied, the
pending application may be dismissed without hearing,
unless it states new facts or proffers new evidence not
reasonably available at the previous hearing.”
(Emphasis in original; internal quotation marks omit-
ted.) Kearney v. Commissioner of Correction, supra,
113 Conn. App. 234.
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Given the facts of the present matter and the law
regarding successive petitions, we conclude that the
second habeas court properly determined that the peti-
tioner’s claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel
was successive and therefore was barred by the doc-
trine of res judicata. The second habeas petition is
grounded in the claim of ineffective assistance of trial
counsel and alleges no new facts that were not known
at the time of the first habeas trial. The second habeas
court, therefore, did not abuse its discretion by denying
the petitioner certification to appeal on his claim of
ineffective assistance of trial counsel, as it is not an
issue debatable among jurists of reason that a court
could resolve it in a different manner, nor is it deserving
of encouragement to proceed further.

C

The petitioner claims that the habeas court improp-
erly determined that his statutory and constitutional
rights to the effective assistance of first habeas counsel
were not violated. In his second habeas petition, the
petitioner alleged that the performance of his first
habeas counsel, Christopher Duby, was deficient
because he failed to allege that the petitioner’s trial
counsel rendered ineffective assistance by (1) failing
to present evidence and testimony during the hearing
on the motion to suppress the petitioner’s statement to
the police, (2) failing to investigate defense witnesses
to demonstrate that first responders mishandled the
victim’s body, and (3) failing to introduce exculpatory
evidence through witnesses to show the contradiction
between Carr’s statement to the police, and his state-
ment to an investigator from the public defender’s office
and his trial testimony, and (4) failing to raise the Sala-
mon jury instruction issue in the first habeas petition.
He concedes, however, that the second habeas court
properly subsumed his claim of ineffective assistance
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of trial counsel into his claim of ineffective assistance
of first habeas counsel.

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of
habeas counsel that is predicated on the ineffective
assistance of trial counsel, a petitioner must demon-
strate that both trial and habeas counsel were ineffec-
tive. See Stanley v. Commissioner of Correction, 164
Conn. App. 244, 254, 134 A.3d 253, cert. denied, 321
Conn. 913, 136 A.3d 1274 (2016). “[When] applied to a
claim of ineffective assistance of prior habeas counsel,
the Strickland [v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104
S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)] standard requires
the petitioner to demonstrate that his prior habeas
counsel’s performance was ineffective and that this
ineffectiveness prejudiced the petitioner’s prior habeas
proceeding. . . . [T]he petitioner will have to prove
that one or both of the prior habeas counsel, in pre-
senting his claims, was ineffective and that effective
representation by habeas counsel establishes a reason-
able probability that the habeas court would have found
that he was entitled to reversal of the conviction and
a new trial . . . .” (Emphasis omitted; internal quota-
tion marks omitted.) Harris v. Commissioner of Cor-
rection, 108 Conn. App. 201, 209-10, 947 A.2d 435, cert.
denied, 288 Conn. 911, 953 A.2d 652 (2008). A petitioner
who claims ineffective assistance of habeas counsel on
the basis of ineffective assistance of trial counsel must
satisfy Strickland twice; that is, he must show that his
appointed habeas counsel and his trial counsel were
ineffective. Lozada v. Warden, 223 Conn. 834, 842, 613
A.2d 818 (1992).

With respect to the motion to suppress the petition-
er’s statement to the police, the second habeas court
found that the petitioner’s motion to suppress was
unsuccessful prior to trial, on appeal, and at his first
habeas trial. At the second habeas trial, DeCaprio and
Barrs testified, but the court found that neither of them
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offered any evidence of what could have been done to
make their representation on the motion to suppress
at trial more effective. The petitioner told Duby that he
believed that he was in custody and not free to leave
when the police were questioning him. Duby inter-
viewed some of the police officers involved. The first
habeas court concluded that even if the petitioner had
testified at the suppression hearing as he testified at
the habeas trial, the trial court would not have granted
the motion to suppress and, therefore, the petitioner
was not prejudiced by counsel’s decision not to offer
his testimony. In resolving the habeas appeal, this court
stated that the petitioner’s testimony at the first habeas
trial did not establish any credible new or additional
facts for a court to find that the petitioner was in cus-
tody, thus triggering his Miranda® rights. Britton v.
Commissioner of Correction, supra, 141 Conn. App.
6561-567. This court thus affirmed the finding of the
habeas court that the petitioner was not prejudiced
by his attorney’s failure to offer his testimony at the
suppression hearing. On the basis of the foregoing his-
tory of litigation and appeals, the second habeas court
found that the petitioner failed to demonstrate that
Duby was ineffective with respect to his investigation
of ineffective assistance of trial counsel regarding the
suppression of the petitioner’s statement.

With regard to the petitioner’s claim that Duby pro-
vided ineffective assistance because he failed to investi-
gate and subpoena witnesses to demonstrate that first
responders to the crime scene mishandled the victim’s
body, the second habeas court found that Duby spoke
with Carver and hired a medical expert because he was
not convinced that the cause of death was accurate,
and that the petitioner believed that the victim’s body
had been moved by the police. The expert’s testimony

% See Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 478-79, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed.
2d 694 (1966).
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was not particularly helpful to the petitioner because
the expert was of the opinion that if the victim’s body
had been moved, it did not affect the autopsy results,
and his opinions were consistent with Carver’s. The
second habeas court concluded that the evidence the
petitioner presented failed to demonstrate that Duby’s
performance was ineffective to demonstrate that first
responders at the crime scene mishandled the vic-
tim’s body.

As to the petitioner’s claim that Duby failed to intro-
duce adequate exculpatory evidence to show the con-
tradiction between Carr’s statement to the police and
his statement to Werner, and his trial testimony, DeCa-
prio testified that Carr’s testimony at the criminal trial
was adverse to the statement he gave to the police on
February 16, 1999. After he gave the statement to the
police, but prior to testifying at the petitioner’s criminal
trial in 2004, Carr testified at Pierre’s criminal trial.
Werner testified at the second habeas trial that she
interviewed Carr on June 27, 2001, and prepared a sum-
mary of the interview. Carr’s interview with Werner,
and his testimony at Pierre’s criminal trial and at the
petitioner’s criminal trial were consistent, but contra-
dicted his February 16, 1999 statement to the police.
At both criminal trials, Carr testified that he could not
remember anything he said to the police. His police
statement was admitted at both criminal trials as a prior
inconsistent statement pursuant to State v. Whelan,
supra, 200 Conn. 753.

The second habeas court reviewed all of Carr’s crimi-
nal trial testimony and found that he repeatedly testified
that he had no memory of what he said to the police.”
Although the trial court admitted Carr’s police state-
ment pursuant to Whelan, the petitioner did not chal-
lenge the evidentiary ruling on direct appeal. Pierre,

%" Carr died and was not available to testify at the second habeas trial.
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however, did challenge the admission of Carr’s police
statement in his direct appeal. Our Supreme Court
rejected Pierre’s claim. State v. Pierre, 277 Conn. 42,
53-86, 890 A.2d 474, cert. denied, 547 U.S. 1197, 126 S.
Ct. 2873, 165 L. Ed. 2d 904 (2006). The second habeas
court stated that it failed to see how a similar claim
raised at the petitioner’s first habeas trial would have
reached a different outcome. The petitioner presented
no evidence at the second habeas trial that the court
considered exculpatory. The jury was apprised of the
contradiction between Carr’s statement to the police
and his trial testimony. The second habeas court, there-
fore, concluded that the third alleged basis of ineffective
assistance of first habeas counsel failed.

The petitioner also alleged that Duby was ineffective
for failing to raise a Salamon jury instruction claim in
the first habeas petition. On the basis of Duby’s testi-
mony at the second habeas trial, the court found that
Duby was aware of Salamon and its progeny at the
time he was filing the amended petition, but that Luwrt-
sema v. Commisstioner of Correction, supra, 299 Conn.
740, had not yet been decided. Duby had considered
raising a Salamon claim but ultimately decided that
the trial court’s jury instructions on kidnapping were
not defective.

In considering this claim of ineffective assistance of
first habeas counsel, the second habeas court cited the
relevant law. “[A] defendant may be convicted of both
kidnapping and another substantive crime if, at any
time prior to, during or after the commission of that
other crime, the victim is moved or confined in a way
that has independent criminal significance, that is, the
victim was restrained to an extent exceeding that which
was necessary to accomplish or complete the other
crime. Whether the movement or confinement of the
victim is merely incidental to and necessary for another
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crime will depend on the particular facts and circum-
stances of each case.” (Footnote omitted.) State v. Sala-
mon, supra, 287 Conn. 547. “Connecticut courts
ultimately assess the importance of a Salamon instruc-
tion by scrutinizing how a reasonable jury would per-
ceive the defendant’s restraint of the victim, particularly
with respect to when, where, and how the defendant
confined or moved the victim.” Wilcox v. Commis-
stoner of Correction, 162 Conn. App. 730, 745, 129 A.3d
796 (2016).

The court reviewed the two kidnapping charges
against the petitioner, i.e., kidnapping in the first degree
for abducting and restraining the victim with intent to
inflict physical injury, and abducting and restraining
the victim with the intent to accomplish and advance
the commission of a robbery. The court quoted the facts
reasonably found by the jury pursuant to our Supreme
Court’s decision in State v. Britton, supra, 283 Conn.
601-602. It also examined the prosecutor’s closing argu-
ment and the relevant portions of the trial court’s
jury instruction.

The second habeas court found that the parties did
not dispute that the jury found that the victim had
been moved and/or restrained on at least two separate
occasions as alleged in the two kidnapping counts:
“lo]nce to facilitate injury to him, another time to rob
him.” The movements and/or restrictions had a clearly
defined and distinct significance from each other, and
exceeded that which was necessary to commit assault
and robbery. In other words, the movements or
restraints had independent criminal significance. The
court, therefore, concluded that the underlying facts
would not have warranted a jury instruction pursuant
to Salamon, but that if such a charge were warranted,
the absence of a Salamon charge was harmless. See,
e.g., State v. Haompton, supra, 293 Conn. 455-64 (lack
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of Salamon instruction harmless impropriety given par-
ticular facts of case). The second habeas court con-
cluded, therefore, that Duby was not ineffective for
failing to raise a Salamon claim in the first habeas
petition. On the basis of our plenary review of the record
and the law, we agree with the conclusion of the second
habeas court.

For the foregoing reasons, we conclude that the sec-
ond habeas court abused its discretion by failing to
grant the petition for certification to appeal, but prop-
erly denied the petitioner’s second petition for a writ
of habeas corpus.

The judgment is affirmed.

In this opinion the other judges concurred.

LUIS MARTINEZ v. PREMIER
MAINTENANCE, INC.
(AC 40188)

Lavine, Alvord and Pellegrino, Js.
Syllabus

The plaintiff sought to recover damages from the defendant for, inter alia,
religious discrimination in violation of the Connecticut Fair Employment
Practices Act (§ 46a-51 et seq.) following the termination of his employ-
ment. The plaintiff was employed by the defendant as a cleaner/porter
at certain apartments. After the plaintiff was promoted to acting supervi-
sor of a cleaning crew, he recommended that the defendant hire A,
who was the pastor of the plaintiff’s church. C, who was the plaintiff’s
supervisor and who knew that the plaintiff was a chaplain at the same
church, informed the plaintiff that if the defendant hired A, the plaintiff,
while at work, could not refer to A as pastor or give A the respect
ordinarily afforded a pastor. After A was hired, members of the cleaning
crew complained that the plaintiff assigned easy jobs to A while they
were assigned more demanding jobs, and that the plaintiff allowed A
to take extra breaks and spend time talking with residents during work
hours. C thereafter issued written warnings to the plaintiff and to A
about their work performance. Neither the plaintiff nor A wrote anything
in the employee remarks section of the warning forms they received as
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to why they disagreed with the warnings. H, the manager of the apart-
ments, then requested that C remove the plaintiff from his position after
H was told of complaints from tenants about the plaintiff and A. When
C, in the presence of the plaintiff, discharged A from his employment,
the plaintiff referred to A as pastor. The plaintiff alleged that C then
became angry and admonished him for having referred to A as pastor,
and immediately discharged him as well. The trial court granted the
defendant’s motion for summary judgment and rendered judgment
thereon, concluding, inter alia, that the plaintiff had failed to establish
a prima facie case of employment discrimination in violation of statute
([Rev. to 2011] § 46a-60 [a] [1]) or a prima facie case of retaliation in
violation of statute ([Rev. to 2011] § 46a-60 [a] [4]). On the plaintiff’s
appeal to this court, hkeld:

1. The plaintiff could not prevail on his claim that the trial court improperly
granted the defendant’s motion for summary judgment when it applied
the pretext model of analysis under McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green
(411 U.S. 792) and Texas Dept. of Community Affairs v. Burdine (450
U.S. 248), rather than the mixed-motive model of analysis under Price
Waterhouse v. Hopkins (490 U.S. 228) in determining whether he estab-
lished a prima facie case of employment discrimination; the plaintiff
did not allege that he was fired for legitimate and illegitimate reasons
but, rather, alleged that the defendant’s reason for termination was a
pretext for religious discrimination, and, therefore, the pretext model
of analysis applied.

2. The trial court properly determined that there were no genuine issues of
material fact as to whether the defendant harbored bias or discriminatory
intent on the basis of the plaintiff’s religion: the plaintiff did not point
to any facts from which it could be inferred that the defendant discrimi-
nated against him on the basis of his religion and church membership
prior to the hiring of A, the plaintiff presented no evidence that the
defendant treated others more favorably than it treated him or A, as it
was the plaintiff who gave A more favorable treatment than other mem-
bers of the cleaning crew, and C’s conduct in firing the plaintiff did not
raise an inference of discrimination, as C stated that he told the plaintiff
and A that they were terminated due to conduct and performance issues,
and neither the plaintiff nor A referenced in the employee remarks
section of the written warnings they received that C became angry when
the plaintiff referred to A as pastor when C discharged A.

3. The trial court properly granted summary judgment on the plaintiff's
retaliation claim: although the plaintiff claimed that he alleged that he
engaged in a protected activity when he referred to A as pastor despite
having been told that he should not do so while the two were working,
he did not allege that he participated in a protected activity by formally
or informally protesting the defendant’s alleged religious discrimination,
and a generous reading of the plaintiff’s allegations of retaliation did
not put the defendant or the court on notice that he engaged in a
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protected activity under § 46a-60 (a) (4); moreover, the plaintiff failed
to raise a genuine issue of material fact that his reference to A as pastor
when C fired A constituted an informal complaint, as the plaintiff did not
document his protest in the employee remarks section of the defendant’s
employee warning record or attest in his affidavit in opposition to the
defendant’s motion for summary judgment to having lodged an infor-
mal protest.

Argued April 17—officially released October 16, 2018
Procedural History

Action to recover damages for, inter alia, alleged reli-
gious discrimination, and for other relief, brought to
the Superior Court in the judicial district of Waterbury,
where the court, Brazzel-Massaro, J., granted the
defendant’s motion for summary judgment and ren-
dered judgment thereon, from which the plaintiff
appealed to this court. Affirmed.

James F. Sullivan, with whom was Jake A. Albert,
for the appellant (plaintiff).

Angelica M. Wilson, with whom, on the brief, was
Glenn A. Duhl, for the appellee (defendant).

Opinion

LAVINE, J. The plaintiff, Luis Martinez, appeals from
the trial court’s grant of summary judgment in favor of
the defendant, Premier Maintenance, Inc., on all three
counts of the plaintiff’s second revised complaint alleg-
ing religious discrimination in violation of the Connecti-
cut Fair Employment Practices Act (act), General
Statutes § 46a-51 et seq. On appeal, the plaintiff claims
that the trial court improperly (1) utilized the pretext/
McDonnell Douglas-Burdine model;, Texas Dept. of
Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 2562-56,
101 S. Ct. 1089, 67 L. Ed. 2d 207 (1981); McDonnell
Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 802, 93 S. Ct.
1817, 36 L. Ed. 2d 668 (1973); rather than the mixed-
motive/Price Waterhouse model of analysis; Price
Waterhouse v. Hopkins, 490 U.S. 228, 246, 109 S. Ct.
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1775, 104 L. Ed. 2d 268 (1989);! when adjudicating the
motion for summary judgment, (2) concluded that there
was no genuine issue of material fact as to whether he
had demonstrated a prima facie case of employment
discrimination, and (3) concluded that there was no
genuine issue of material fact that he was not engaged
in a protected activity under the act. We disagree and
affirm the judgment of the trial court.

The plaintiff commenced the present action against
the defendant in November, 2013, alleging that he and
the defendant were employee and employer, respec-
tively, within the meaning of the act. His second revised
complaint alleged three counts, namely, employment
discrimination in violation of General Statutes (Rev. to
2011) § 46a-60 (a) (1), employer retaliation in violation
of General Statutes (Rev. to 2011) § 46a-60 (a) (4), and
aiding and abetting discrimination in violation of Gen-
eral Statutes (Rev. to 2011) § 46a-60 (a) (5). The plaintiff
alleged the following facts in the operative complaint.
The plaintiff was employed by the defendant as a
cleaner/porter at the Enterprise-Schoolhouse Apart-
ments (apartments) in Waterbury, which were managed
by the defendant’s customer, WinnResidential. During
the time he was employed by the defendant, the plain-
tiff’s supervisor, Sandino Cifuentes, knew that the plain-
tiff was a chaplain at Tabernacle of Reunion Church.
Prior to the plaintiff’'s termination from employment,
Cifuentes had informed him that while he was at work,
the plaintiff could not refer to a coworker, Ismael
Agosto, as “pastor” or give Agosto the respect ordinarily
afforded a pastor.

The plaintiff also alleged that on June 22, 2012, Car-
olyn Hagan, manager of the apartments, relayed infor-
mation to Cifuentes that during church services, Agosto

I See Levy v. Commission on Human Rights & Opportunities, 236 Conn.
96, 104-109, 671 A.2d 349 (1996) (differentiating disparate employment treat-
ment models).



October 16, 2018 CONNECTICUT LAW JOURNAL Page 43A

185 Conn. App. 425 OCTOBER, 2018 429

Martinez v. Premier Maintenance, Inc.

had read the names of tenants who were in jeopardy
of being evicted from the apartments. Hagan learned
of the incident from Daisy Alejandro, assistant manager
of the apartments, who heard of the incident from ten-
ants Enrique Cintron and his wife, Jorge Cintron. Hagan
also relayed to Cifuentes a complaint from Jorge Cin-
tron that the plaintiff was telling tenants of the apart-
ment that the “office does not do anything and that is
why nothing gets done . . . .” Moreover, Hagan
relayed that the plaintiff informed nonresidents who
were in the apartments, when anyone from the office
was entering the apartments, so that they could leave
before the staff arrived. Hagan also reported that the
plaintiff was on his phone constantly, not working, and
spent work time “hanging out” with a woman who lived
across the street from the apartments.

The plaintiff further alleged that on or about June
26, 2012, Hagan requested that Cifuentes remove the
plaintiff from his position. On August 3, 2012, Cifuentes
discharged Agosto from his employment in the presence
of the plaintiff. During the discharge meeting, the plain-
tiff referred to Agosto as “pastor . . . .” Cifuentes
admonished the plaintiff and immediately discharged
him as well.

The plaintiff alleged that he had no performance or
conduct issues and that the quality of his work was
excellent. He denied helping to compile the list of names
of tenants in jeopardy of eviction. On December 14,
2011, Charles Riddle, maintenance director for CMM
WinnResidential, had sent Hagan a message stating that
the plaintiff was a great choice for temporary supervi-
sor. In addition, the plaintiff alleged that the Cintrons’
complaint against him was made in retaliation for an
incident at church when Agosto admonished them for
playing music at an inappropriate time. The plaintiff
alleged that despite the unsubstantiated nature of the
Cintrons’ complaint and despite the fact that his job
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performance was satisfactory, the defendant dis-
charged him from employment.

In count one, the plaintiff alleged that the defendant
discriminated against him on the basis of his religion
in such a way that it adversely affected his status as
an employee, that the defendant warned and disciplined
the plaintiff and terminated the plaintiff’s employment
on account of his religion in violation of § 46a-60 (a)
(1), and that the defendant’s unequal treatment of the
plaintiff was arbitrary and unreasonably discriminatory
in violation of the statute. Moreover, he alleged that
the defendant exhibited ill will, malice, improper
motive, and indifference to the plaintiff’s civil rights.

In count two, the plaintiff alleged that he held a bona
fide religious belief and was the chaplain at the Taberna-
cle of Reunion Church. The defendant, through its
agents, servants and employees, was aware of the plain-
tiff’s position in the church and that Agosto was the
pastor of the church. The plaintiff alleged that the defen-
dant’s agents discriminated against him on the basis
of his religion and discharged him for practicing his
religious beliefs. The defendant retaliated against him
for using the term “pastor” and “chaplain,” despite
knowing the plaintiff’s religious beliefs and customs
associated with the use of such terms. He claimed
damages.

In count three, the plaintiff alleged that the defendant,
through its agents, servants, and employees, was aware
of hisreligious beliefs, customs and practices, and aided
and abetted the unlawful conduct of its supervisors and
employees by permitting one of its agents to discrimi-
nate against him on the basis of his religious beliefs in
violation of the act. The plaintiff again alleged damages.

The defendant denied the material allegations of the
second revised complaint and alleged nine special
defenses. In particular, the defendant alleged as its
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fourth special defense to all counts in the complaint:
“All actions taken by [the defendant] with respect to
[the] plaintiff and [the] plaintiff’s employment were
undertaken for legitimate, nondiscriminatory busi-
ness reasons.”

On July 8, 2016, the defendant filed a motion for
summary judgment in which it claimed that there were
no genuine issues of material fact such that the plaintiff
could not establish a prima facie violation of the act.
Furthermore, the defendant claimed that it had a legiti-
mate, nondiscriminatory, nonretaliatory reason to ter-
minate the plaintiff’s employment and that the plaintiff
could not demonstrate that the reason was false or a
pretext. Also, the plaintiff could not establish a cause
of action for aiding and abetting because, first, he could
not establish that the defendant had discriminated or
retaliated against him, and second, a defendant cannot
be liable for aiding and abetting employees who are
not parties to the action. The plaintiff filed an objection
to the defendant’s motion for summary judgment on
the grounds that there were genuine issues of material
fact and that he had established a prima facie case of
employment discrimination, retaliation, and aiding and
abetting on the basis of religion. In its reply to the
plaintiff’s objection, the defendant argued that the plain-
tiff had failed to present evidence that could persuade
a rational fact finder that the defendant’s legitimate,
nondiscriminatory reason for terminating the plaintiff’s
employment was false or a pretext.

The parties appeared at short calendar on November
7, 2016, to argue the motion for summary judgment.
The court issued its memorandum of decision granting
the motion for summary judgment in favor of the defen-
dant on February 15, 2017.2 After stating the legal stan-
dards and principles regarding a motion for summary

2 The court considered all of the exhibits submitted by both of the parties,
even though they may not have been authenticated, because there was no
objection to them.
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judgment and employment discrimination law, the
court found that the defendant was entitled to summary
judgment on each count of the second revised com-
plaint and that the defendant had carried its burden of
proving the absence of a genuine issue of material fact.?

The court cited the controlling statute: “It shall be a
discriminatory practice in violation of this section . . .

(D) [flor an employer . . . to discharge from employ-
ment any individual . . . because of the individual’s
. religious creed . . . .” General Statutes (Rev. to

2011) § 46a-60 (a). The court found that the plaintiff
had alleged that he is a member of a protected class,
was qualified for his position, and was terminated from
his employment due to his use of the term “pastor”
when referring to Agosto, his coworker, in the presence
of Cifuentes, his supervisor. The plaintiff alleged that
because the defendant disapproved of his use of reli-
gious terms such as “pastor” when he was working and
was aware that he was a chaplain in Agosto’s church,
his employment termination occurred under circum-
stances giving rise to an inference of religious discrimi-
nation. The court found, however, that the plaintiff had
failed to allege facts that the defendant harbored any
bias that would create an inference of discrimination.
The court concluded, therefore, that the plaintiff had
failed to establish a prima facie case of employment
discrimination under the act and that the defendant
had demonstrated the absence of any genuine issues
of material fact in this regard.

With respect to count two, a retaliation claim, the
court cited § 46a-60 (a), which provides in relevant part
that “[i]t shall be a discriminatory practice . . . (4)
[flor any . . . employer . . . to discharge, expel or

3 On appeal, the plaintiff takes issue with the court’s finding that there
were no genuine issues of material fact, but he does not take issue with
the court’s summary of the underlying facts.
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otherwise discriminate against any person because
such person has opposed any discriminatory employ-
ment practice or because such person has filed a com-
plaint or testified or assisted in any proceeding under
section 46a-82, 46a-83 or 46a-84 . . . .” The court found
that the plaintiff had alleged that he had engaged in a
protected activity when he openly called Agosto “pas-
tor” in Cifuentes’ presence. The court concluded that
the plaintiff's use of the term pastor in defiance of
Cifuentes’ request that he not do so at work, however,
was neither a formal nor informal protest of discrimina-
tion, but a continuation of behavior that Cifuentes had
advised him against. The court concluded that because
the plaintiff’s acts did not fall under the category of
protected activity, he had failed to establish a prima
facie case of retaliation in violation of the act and that
there were no genuine issues of material fact in that
regard.

In count three, the plaintiff had alleged that the defen-
dant aided and abetted the unlawful conduct of its
supervisors and employees by permitting more than
one of its agents to discriminate against him on the
basis of his religious beliefs. Section 46a-60 (a) provides
in relevant part that “[i]t shall be a discriminatory prac-
tice in violation of this section . . . (5) [flor any per-
son, whether an employer or an employee or not, to
aid, abet, incite, compel or coerce the doing of any act
declared to be a discriminatory employment practice
or to attempt to do so . . . .” The court noted that in
Connecticut, “an individual employee may be held liable
for aiding and abetting his employer’s discrimination;
an employer [however] cannot be liable for aiding and
abetting its own discriminatory conduct.” (Internal quo-
tation marks omitted.) Farrar v. Stratford, 537 F. Supp.
2d 332, 356 (D. Conn. 2008), aff'd, 391 Fed. Appx. 47
(2d Cir. 2010). The court concluded that the defendant
could not have aided and abetted illegal discrimination
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because the plaintiff could not establish a prima facie
case of discrimination against the defendant. Moreover,
merely mentioning “supervisors and employees [who]
assisted the alleged illegal, discriminatory conduct in
the complaint” is not sufficient to sustain a claim of
aiding and abetting against the defendant. The defen-
dant cannot have discriminated against the plaintiff and
at the same time aided and abetted its discrimination
against him. The court concluded that the plaintiff had
failed to state an aiding and abetting claim against
the defendant.

We now set forth the standard of review and the
principles that guide our analysis of appeals from the
rendering of summary judgment. “Practice Book § 17-
49 provides that summary judgment shall be rendered
forthwith if the pleadings, affidavits and any other proof
submitted show that there is no genuine issue as to any
material fact and that the moving party is entitled to
judgment as a matter of law.” (Internal quotation marks
omitted.) Rivers v. New Britain, 288 Conn. 1, 10, 950
A.2d 1247 (2008). “In deciding a motion for summary
judgment, the trial court must view the evidence in the
light most favorable to the nonmoving party. . . . The
party seeking summary judgment has the burden of
showing the absence of any genuine issue [of] material
facts which, under the applicable principles of substan-
tive law, entitle him to a judgment as a matter of law

. and the party opposing such a motion must pro-
vide an evidentiary foundation to demonstrate the exis-
tence of a genuine issue of material fact.” (Citations
omitted; emphasis omitted; internal quotation marks
omitted.) Altfeter v. Naugatuck, 53 Conn. App. 791, 800,
732 A.2d 207 (1999).

4The plaintiff’s brief on appeal fails to address the court’s granting of
summary judgment with respect to his claim of aiding and abetting. We,
therefore, consider any claim that the court improperly granted summary
judgment as to count three abandoned. See, e.g., Charles v. Mitchell, 158
Conn. App. 98, 102 n.4, 118 A.3d 149 (2015) (failure to brief claim).
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“A material fact is a fact that will make a difference
in the result of the case.” (Internal quotation marks
omitted.) Vollemans v. Wallingford, 103 Conn. App. 188,
193, 928 A.2d 586 (2007), aff'd, 289 Conn. 57, 956 A.2d
579 (2008). “It is not enough for the moving party merely
to assert the absence of any disputed factual issue; the

moving party is required to bring forward . . . eviden-
tiary facts, or substantial evidence outside the pleadings
to show the absence of any material dispute. . . . The

party opposing summary judgment must present a fac-
tual predicate for his argument to raise a genuine issue
of fact. . . . Once raised, if it is not conclusively
refuted by the moving party, a genuine issue of fact
exists, and summary judgment is inappropriate.” (Inter-
nal quotation marks omitted.) Id. “[A] party opposing
summary judgment must substantiate its adverse claim
by showing that there is a genuine issue of material
fact together with the evidence disclosing the existence
of such an issue.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.)
Home Ins. Co. v. Aetna Life & Casualty Co., 235 Conn.
185, 202, 663 A.2d 1001 (1995). Demonstrating a genuine
issue “requires the parties to bring forward before trial
evidentiary facts, or substantial evidence outside the
pleadings, from which the material facts alleged in the
pleadings can warrantably be inferred.” United Oil Co.
v. Urban Redevelopment Commission, 1568 Conn. 364,
378-79, 260 A.2d 596 (1969).

“The burden of proof that must be met to permit an
employment-discrimination plaintiff to survive a sum-
mary judgment motion at the prima facie stage is de
minim|[i]s. . . . Since the court, in deciding a motion
for summary judgment, is not to resolve issues of fact,
its determination whether the circumstances giv[e] rise
to an inference of discrimination must be a determina-
tion of whether the proffered admissible evidence
shows circumstances that would be sufficient to permit
a rational finder of fact to infer a discriminatory
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motive.” (Citation omitted; internal quotation marks
omitted.) Chambers v. TRM Copy Centers Corp., 43
F.3d 29, 37-38 (2d Cir. 1994).

“On appeal, [an appellate court] must determine
whether the legal conclusions reached by the trial court
are legally and logically correct and whether they find
support in the facts set out in the memorandum of
decision of the trial court. . . . [Appellate] review of
the trial court’s decision to grant [a] defendant’s motion
for summary judgment is plenary.” (Internal quotation
marks omitted.) Rivers v. New Britain, supra, 288
Conn. 10.

I

The plaintiff claims that in ruling on the defendant’s
motion for summary judgment, the court improperly
applied the pretext/McDonnell Douglas-Burdine model
of analysis rather than the mixed-motive/Price Water-
house model in determining whether he established
a prima facie case of employment discrimination. We
conclude that the court applied the appropriate model.

“Connecticut statutorily prohibits discrimination in
employment based upon race, color, religious creed,
age, sex, marital status, national origin, ancestry, pre-
sent or past history of mental disorder, mental retarda-
tion, and learning disability or physical disability.
General Statutes § 46a-60 (a) (1).” Levy v. Commission
on Human Rights & Opportunities, 236 Conn. 96, 102,
671 A.2d 349 (1996). Our courts look to federal prece-
dent for guidance in applying the act. Miko v. Commis-
sion on Human Rights & Opportunities, 220 Conn.
192, 202, 596 A.2d 396 (1991).

Generally, there are four theories of employment dis-
crimination under federal law. Levy v. Commission on
Human Rights & Opportunities, supra, 236 Conn. 103.
In the present case, we are concerned with a claim of
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disparate treatment. “Under the analysis of the dispa-
rate treatment theory of liability, there are two general
methods to allocate the burdens of proof: (1) the mixed-
motive/Price Waterhouse model . . . and (2) the pre-
text/McDonnell Douglas-Burdine model.” (Citation
omitted.) Id., 104-105.

“The legal standards governing discrimination claims
involving adverse employment actions are well estab-
lished.” Feliciano v. Autozone, Inc., 316 Conn. 65, 73,
111 A.3d 453 (2015). “A mixed-motive [Price Water-
house] case exists when an employment decision is
motivated by both legitimate and illegitimate reasons.

. . In such instances, a plaintiff must demonstrate
that the employer’s decision was motivated by one or
more prohibited statutory factors. Whether through
direct evidence or circumstantial evidence, a plaintiff
must submit enough evidence that, if believed, could
reasonably allow a [fact finder] to conclude that the
adverse employment consequences resulted because of
an impermissible factor. . . .

“The critical inquiry [in a mixed-motive case] is
whether [a] discriminatory motive was a factor in the
[employment] decision at the moment it was made.
. . . Under this model, the plaintiff’s prima facie case
requires that the plaintiff prove by a preponderance of
the evidence that he or she is within a protected class
and that an impermissible factor played a motivating or
substantial role in the employment decision.” (Citations
omitted; footnote omitted; internal quotation marks
omitted.) Levy v. Commission on Human Rights &
Opportunities, supra, 236 Conn. 105-106.

“Often, a plaintiff cannot prove directly the reasons
that motivated an employment decision. Nevertheless,
a plaintiff may establish a prima facie case of discrimi-
nation through inference by presenting facts [that are]
sufficient to remove the most likely bona fide reasons
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for an employment action . . . .” (Internal quotation
marks omitted.) Id., 107. “From a showing that an
employment decision was not made for legitimate rea-
sons, a fact finder may infer that the decision was made
for illegitimate reasons. It is in these instances that the
McDonnell Douglas-Burdine model of analysis must be
employed.” Id.

The plaintiff claims that the court should have applied
the mixed-motive/Price Waterhouse model of analysis
because he established a prima facie case that the defen-
dant’s employment action was motivated by an
improper reason, namely, religious discrimination. The
trial court disagreed, as stated in a footnote in its memo-
randum of decision: “In [his] objection to the defen-
dant’s motion for summary judgment, the plaintiff
argues that his employment discrimination claim is enti-
tled to the Price Waterhouse mixed-motive analysis. ‘A
mixed motive case exists when an employment decision
is motivated by both legitimate and illegitimate rea-
sons.’ [Id.], 105. In his complaint and affidavit submitted
with the objection to the motion for summary judgment,
however, the plaintiff does not allege that his termina-
tion was the result of legitimate and illegitimate rea-
sons, but rather alleges facts which demonstrate that
the defendant’s reason for termination was a pretext
for illegal religious discrimination. Thus, the McDonnell
Douglas-Burdine pretext model of analysis, instead of
the Price Waterhouse mixed-motive analysis, applies.”
On the basis of our plenary review of the plaintiff’s
second revised complaint and his affidavit in opposition
to the defendant’s motion for summary judgment, we
conclude that the plaintiff did not allege that he was
fired for both legitimate and illegitimate reasons. We
therefore agree with the trial court that the pretext/
McDonnell Douglas-Burdine model of analysis applied.
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The plaintiff’s second claim is that even if the court
properly determined that the pretext/McDonnell Doug-
las-Burdine model of analysis was appropriate, the
court improperly found that the defendant had demon-
strated the absence of any genuine issue of material
fact as to whether the circumstances under which he
was fired gave rise to an inference of discrimination.
We do not agree.

Under the pretext/McDonnell Douglas-Burdine anal-
ysis, “the employee must first make a prima facie case
of discrimination. . . . In order for the employee to
first make a prima facie case of discrimination, the
plaintiff must show: (1) the plaintiff is a member of a
protected class; (2) the plaintiff was qualified for the
position; (3) the plaintiff suffered an adverse employ-
ment action; and (4) the adverse employment action
occurred under circumstances that give rise to an infer-
ence of discrimination. . . . The employer may then
rebut the prima facie case by stating a legitimate, non-
discriminatory justification for the employment deci-
sion in question. . . . This burden is one of production,
not persuasion . . . . The employee then must demon-
strate that the reason proffered by the employer is
merely a pretext and that the decision actually was
motivated by illegal discriminatory bias.” (Citations
omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.) Feliciano
v. Autozone, Inc., 142 Conn. App. 756, 769-70, 66 A.3d
911 (2013), rev’d in part on other grounds, 316 Conn.
65, 111 A.3d 453 (2015); see also Craine v. Trinity
College, 259 Conn. 625, 636-37, 791 A.2d 518 (2002).Cir-
cumstances contributing to a permissible inference of
discriminatory intent under the fourth McDonnell Doug-
las-Burdine factor include (1) the employer’s continu-
ing, after discharging the plaintiff, to seek applicants
from persons of the plaintiff’s qualifications to fill that
position; (2) the employer’s criticism of the plaintiff’s
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performance in ethnically degrading terms or invidious
comments about others in the employee’s protected
group; (3) the more favorable treatment of employees
not in the protected group; or (4) the sequence of events
leading to the plaintiff’s discharge or the timing of the
discharge. See Chambers v. TRM Copy Centers Corp.,
supra, 43 F.3d 37.

The defendant set forth the following facts in support
of its motion for summary judgment.® The plaintiff was
employed by the defendant from September, 2010,
through August 3, 2012, to perform services at the apart-
ments that are managed by WinnResidential. WinnResi-
dential is a long-standing client of the defendant for
which it provides cleaning and maintenance services
at numerous locations. Initially, the plaintiff was hired
as a cleaner/porter, but he was promoted to acting
supervisor of a four person cleaning crew in September,
2011. He reported to Cifuentes, the defendant’s opera-
tions manager for the Hartford area. Cifuentes was
responsible for ensuring that the defendant’s employees
delivered superior services to its clients. He visited
employees at their job sites one to three times a month.
He also served as the liaison between the defendant
and its clients with respect to complaints.

During the time that he was employed by the defen-
dant, the plaintiff was the chaplain of his church, and
Cifuentes knew of that affiliation. In March, 2012, the
plaintiff recommended that the defendant hire Agosto,
the pastor of the plaintiff’s church. Cifuentes informed
the plaintiff that if the defendant hired Agosto, the plain-
tiff could not treat him any differently than he treated
other members of the cleaning crew, explaining that as
a supervisor, the plaintiff had to treat all of the cleaners

5 Attached to the memorandum of law were numerous exhibits, including
some of the plaintiff’'s employment records and affidavits from Cifuentes,
Hagan, Daisy Alejandro and Joseph Deming of WinnResidential.
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whom he supervised fairly and equally and not give any
one of them preferential treatment, even if they were
friends outside of work.

In May or early June, 2012, Cifuentes received com-
plaints from members of the plaintiff’s cleaning crew
that the plaintiff was not distributing work assignments
fairly. According to members of the crew, the plaintiff
frequently assigned “ ‘easy’ ” jobs to Agosto and more
demanding work to them. In addition, they complained
that the plaintiff allowed Agosto to take extra breaks
and to spend time talking with residents during work
hours.’ After Cifuentes learned of the complaints, he
informed the plaintiff of them and reminded him that
as a supervisor, he was responsible for keeping Agosto
focused on work and minimizing his interaction with
residents during work hours. Moreover, Cifuentes
reminded the plaintiff that he should not treat Agosto
more favorably than the other members of his crew.

In June, 2012, Cifuentes learned that Daisy Alejandro,
assistant manager of the apartments, on a number of
occasions had observed Agosto standing in the lobby
talking with residents when he should have been work-
ing, and that he was talking to the residents about
church and God. Alejandro also heard complaints from
members of the cleaning crew that the plaintiff assigned
Agosto “ ‘easy’ ” jobs, while they were assigned more
demanding work. John Deming, WinnResidential’s
superintendent for the apartments, witnessed similar
conduct. According to Deming, the plaintiff and Agosto
were not performing to WinnResidential’s standards
and their work was not being completed in a timely
manner. Deming thought that the plaintiff was losing
control over his crew and that he lacked the character
to ensure that his crew was performing as it should.

®To ensure the delivery of efficient, reliable and high quality services,
Cifuentes attested, the defendant instructed its employees to limit their
interaction with the tenants and employees of clients at work sites.
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In June, 2012, Alejandro, Deming, and Hagan met to
discuss the performance of the defendant’s employees.
Hagan noted that the plaintiff was giving preferential
treatment to Agosto by giving him easier tasks and
allowing him to speak with residents rather than work.
She was of the opinion that the plaintiff’s treatment of
Agosto was not conducive of a good working environ-
ment because a supervisor should treat each of his
subordinates fairly and equally. The fact that the plain-
tiff was not treating the members of the crew fairly and
equally led three members of the crew to complain to
Alejandro. Hagan also was concerned about fair hous-
ing laws, which, she stated, do not permit religion to
be discussed.

On June 14, 2012, Cifuentes met with the plaintiff
alone to address Hagan’s concerns about his perfor-
mance as a supervisor. He gave the plaintiff a verbal
warning and repeated his instructions that the plaintiff
was to treat all members of his crew equally and to
limit Agosto’s nonwork-related interaction with resi-
dents. Cifuentes then met with the plaintiff and Agosto
together. Cifuentes instructed Agosto to focus on work
and minimize his interaction with residents during
working hours and issued a written warning to Agosto.
The warning form contained a space where an employee
could state reasons why he disagreed with the warning
received.” Agosto did not make a written statement and
left the space blank.

On June 21, 2012, the plaintiff returned to his position
as a cleaner. On June 22, 2012, Hagan sent an e-mail
to Cifuentes about an incident involving Agosto and the
plaintiff. Several tenants had complained that during a
church service, Agosto read the names of residents who

"That section of the form states that “[t]he absence of any statement on
the part of the EMPLOYEE indicates his/her agreement with the report
as stated.”
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were in danger of being evicted due to poor housekeep-
ing, nonpayment of rent, or were “bad” tenants. The
plaintiff had helped Agosto compile the list of names.
Hagan was concerned that the plaintiff and Agosto had
accessed and misused private and confidential informa-
tion that they saw in the management office. Hagan
informed Cifuentes that the misuse of the information
violated WinnResidential’s professional conduct policy
and its restrictions on the use of information by the
defendant’s employees that they viewed or obtained
while they were working. In addition, Alejandro had
received complaints that the plaintiff had been “bad-
mouthing” WinnResidential by telling residents that the
“office doesn’t do anything, and that’s why nothing gets
done . . . .” He also was warning nonresidents who
were in the apartments when staff was planning to enter
the apartments so that the nonresidents could leave
before the staff arrived. In addition, the plaintiff was
hanging out with a female who lives across the street
from the apartments. Hagan subsequently requested
that the defendant remove Agosto and the plaintiff from
their positions at the apartments.® WinnResidential also
did not want them to work at any of its other properties.
Cifuentes confirmed Hagan’s request on July 26, 2012.

8In her affidavit that was submitted with the defendant’s motion for
summary judgment, Hagan attested in part: “In or about June of 2012, staff
performance was discussed among . . . Deming . . . Alejandro . . . and
me. It was brought to my attention that [the plaintiff] gave preferential
treatment to Agosto. He called him pastor in the workplace. We did not
want him to do that because it was a title of respect and authority while
[the plaintiff] was to be the supervisor. It was also not conducive to a good
working environment because the supervisor should be treating each of his
subordinates fairly and equally—it was creating a problem as the other three
workers were complaining to [Alejandro]. I also was concerned about Fair
Housing Laws where religion was not to be discussed at all. It was also
brought to my attention that Agosto engaged in excessive interaction [apart-
ment] residents during working hours when he should be working, not
socializing. . . . It was also reported to me that Agosto was talking to
residents about church, religion and God when he was to be working.”
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On the basis of Hagan’s request, as well as Cifuentes’
continuing concerns about the plaintiff’s and Agosto’s
job performance, Cifuentes determined that it was nec-
essary to replace both men as soon as the defendant
was able to hire qualified replacements. In his affidavit,
Cifuentes attested that the defendant strives to provide
the best possible service to its clients. It is the custom
and practice of the defendant to comply, as soon as
practicable, with any client’s legitimate request to
remove one of the defendant’s employees from a job
site. As a consequence of the defendant’s hiring require-
ments,’ it took the defendant approximately six weeks
to hire qualified replacements for the plaintiff and
Agosto.

On August 3, 2012, Cifuentes met with both Agosto
and the plaintiff and terminated their employment. The
employment warning notice that Cifuentes issued to
the plaintiff on August 3, 2012, stated that the plaintiff
had been warned several times regarding not only his
own conduct as supervisor, but also the conduct of
the crew members for whom he was responsible. The
warning notice stated that the plaintiff’'s employment
was terminated due to his ongoing conduct and perfor-
mance issues, particularly on “[June 7, 2012, June 19,
2012, and July 30, 2012].” The plaintiff did not make a
statement objecting to the warning or termination on
the form in the space provided. See footnote 7 of
this opinion.

Cifuentes attested that it is very important to the
defendant that WinnResidential be satisfied with the
quality of the defendant’s employees. The defendant
was concerned that by failing to accommodate Hagan’s
request that the plaintiff and Agosto be removed, the

° The defendant requires potential employees to undergo drug testing and
background checks.
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whole WinnResidential account could be put in jeop-
ardy, which could have “cost [five] other people to lose
their jobs.”

The plaintiff opposed the defendant’s motion for sum-
mary judgment by putting forth facts that are for the
most part consistent with those presented by the defen-
dant. The plaintiff attested that when the defendant
hired Agosto, Cifuentes told the plaintiff that, while at
work, he could not refer to Agosto as “pastor” or give
him the respect ordinarily given to a pastor. Also, Hagan
initiated a meeting with Agosto and the plaintiff because
she had been advised by members of the plaintiff’s
cleaning crew that he was assigning Agosto easier work.
On June 14, 2012, Hagan told the plaintiff that he needed
to treat Agosto the same way he treated other workers
and not treat him with the respect of a pastor when
they were at work. Hagan brought Agosto into the meet-
ing and gave him a warning about speaking to residents
while at work and using terms such as “God bless.”
The plaintiff acknowledged that Hagan sent Cifuentes
an e-mail about information she had received from Alej-
andro concerning Agosto’s reading the names of resi-
dents at church. Hagan assumed that the plaintiff had
given Agosto confidential information. The plaintiff
denied that Agosto read any names of residents at
church or that he had access to confidential information
that he gave to Agosto.

The plaintiff further attested that the Cintrons made
false complaints to Alejandro that the plaintiff had told
residents that the office “doesn’t do anything, and that’s
why nothing gets done,” and that the plaintiff spends
time on his phone talking to female residents. The plain-
tiff denied the complaints. He accused the Cintrons of
making the false complaints in retaliation for Agosto’s
having reprimanded them for playing music at an inap-
propriate time during church. The plaintiff, however,
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acknowledged that Hagan requested that Cifuentes
remove him from his position as a cleaner/porter.

With respect to the August 3, 2012 meeting when
Cifuentes fired him, the plaintiff attested: “Cifuentes
called a meeting to officially [terminate] Mr. Agosto
from his position as cleaner/porter while I was present
as his supervisor. When I referred to Mr. Agosto as
‘pastor’ during this meeting, Mr. Cifuentes got immedi-
ately angry and immediately removed me from my posi-
tion as well.” Finally, the plaintiff denied that he had any
performance issues during the time of his employment
with the defendant and stated that Riddle previously
had praised his appointment as a temporary supervisor.

In applying the pretext/McDonnell Douglas-Burdine
model to the facts presented by the parties, the court
noted that the plaintiff alleged that he was a member
of a protected class, was qualified for his position and
was fired from his position due to his use of the term
“pastor” when referring to Agosto, his coworker, in
the presence of Cifuentes. The plaintiff asserted that
because the defendant disapproved of its employees
using religious terms such as “pastor” to refer to one
another while they were at work and because the defen-
dant was aware of the plaintiff’s status as chaplain in
Agosto’s church, the plaintiff's termination from
employment occurred under circumstances giving rise
to an inference of religious discrimination. The court,
however, found that the facts failed to establish that
the defendant harbored any bias that created an infer-
ence of discrimination and that there were no genuine
issues of material fact in that regard.

On appeal, the plaintiff argues that the court erred
in concluding that there were no genuine issues of mate-
rial fact because trial courts should be cautious when
granting summary judgment in employment discrimina-
tion cases when an employer’s intent is in question. See
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Miller v. Edward Jones & Co., 355 F. Supp. 2d 629, 636
(D. Conn. 2005) (United States Court of Appeals for
the Second Circuit cautioned district courts that direct
evidence of intent rarely found). He argues that evi-
dence of an employer’s discriminatory intent will rarely
be found and that affidavits must be carefully scruti-
nized for circumstantial proof, which, if believed, shows
discrimination. Id. Moreover, intent raises an issue of
material fact that cannot be decided on a motion for
summary judgment. Picataggio v. Romeo, 36 Conn. App.
791, 794, 6564 A.2d 382 (1995). He concedes, however,
that the quantum of evidence produced by the defen-
dant outweighed his evidence, but he insists that he
put forth some evidence that gives rise to an inference
of religious discrimination on the part of the defendant.

In its brief on appeal, the defendant countered the
plaintiff’s claim of prima facie discrimination with a
number of nondiscriminatory reasons it had to termi-
nate the plaintiff’s employment, none of which had any-
thing to do with his religion or church membership: (1)
as supervisor of a cleaning crew, the plaintiff elevated
Agosto above his coworkers, which created morale
problems; (2) WinnResidential reasonably believed and
communicated to the defendant that the plaintiff helped
Agosto obtain confidential information about the status
of certain residents that Agosto then published in his
church, (3) the plaintiff disparaged WinnResidential to
its tenants; and (4) WinnResidential asked the defen-
dant to replace the plaintiff who, as a supervisor, ele-
vated Agosto above his fellow workers, helped Agosto
obtain confidential information that he published, and
disparaged WinnResidential.

On appeal, the plaintiff argues that he presented suffi-
cient evidence from which a reasonable fact finder
could conclude that the basis of the defendant’s motiva-
tion to terminate his employment was his religion. The
plaintiff’s argument is founded on his view of the time
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and manner in which Cifuentes fired him. In the plain-
tiff’s mind, Cifuentes met with the plaintiff and Agosto
on August 3, 2012, for the purpose of firing only Agosto.
Thereafter, when the plaintiff referred to Agosto as
pastor, Cifuentes became angry and fired him as well.
In other words, religion was Cifuentes’ motivating fac-
tor at the time he fired the plaintiff. See Levy v. Commsis-
ston on Human Rights & Opportunities, supra, 236
Conn. 106 (critical fact whether impermissible motive
was factor at time termination decision was made). The
plaintiff contends that Cifuentes’ action directly reflects
discrimination on the basis of the plaintiff’s religion
and permits the fact finder to conclude that the adverse
employment consequence was the result of an imper-
missible factor. He also argues that there is nothing in
the record indicating that he was warned several times
about his own behavior and that of members of his
crew, and there is nothing in the record to confirm that
he gave Agosto easier work assignments or that he
permitted him to socialize with residents rather than
work.

To bolster his position that he established a prima
facie case of discrimination, the plaintiff cites Hagan’s
affidavit, in which she attests that she had heard reports
that in the workplace, the plaintiff referred to Agosto
as “pastor.” She attested to her belief that the use of
such terms is not conducive to a good working environ-
ment. Hagan’s attestations, however, go to her reasons
for not wanting the plaintiff and Agosto to work at the
apartments or any site managed by WinnResidential.
Significantly, Hagan was employed by WinnResidential,
not by the defendant. She, therefore, was not the defen-
dant’s agent.

“[R]emarks made by someone other than the person
who made the decision adversely affecting the plaintiff
may have little tendency to show that the decision-
maker was motivated by the discriminatory sentiment
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expressed in the remark.” Tomassi v. Insignia Finan-
cial Group, Inc., 478 F.3d 111, 115 (2d Cir. 2007), abro-
gated in part on other grounds by Gross v. FBL
Financial Services, Inc., 557 U.S. 167, 177-78, 129 S.
Ct. 2343, 174 L. Ed. 2d 119 (2009). Cifuentes was
requested and motivated to fire both the plaintiff and
Agosto in June, 2012, when he learned that WinnResi-
dential did not want either man to work at the apart-
ments because the plaintiff gave Agosto preferential
treatment, they took confidential information from the
office and published it, the plaintiff denigrated WinnRe-
sidential, and he helped nonresidents avoid detection.
Cifuentes’ job was to ensure that the defendant’s
employees performed to the satisfaction of its clients.
If WinnResidential was not happy with the plaintiff and
Agosto, the defendant risked losing the account if it
did not fire them.

In responding to the plaintiff’s arguments on appeal,
the defendant has undertaken an analysis of the Cham-
bers factors. “Circumstances contributing to a permissi-
ble inference of discriminatory intent may include [1]
criticism of the plaintiff’s performance in [discrimina-
tory] terms . . . invidious comments about others in
the employee’s protected group . . . [2] the more
favorable treatment of employees not in the protected
group . . . or [3] the sequence of events leading to the
plaintiff’s discharge . . . or the timing of the discharge
. . . .7 (Citations omitted.) Chambers v. TRM Copy
Centers Corp., supra, 43 F.3d 37. “Since the court, in
deciding a motion for summary judgment, is not to
resolve issues of fact, its determination of whether the
circumstances giv[e] rise to an inference of discrimina-
tion must be a determination of whether the proffered
admissible evidence shows circumstances that would
be sufficient to permit a rational finder of fact to infer
a discriminatory motive.” (Internal quotation marks
omitted.) Id., 38. “In the absence of any affirmative
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evidence of a causal connection between [the defen-
dant’s agent’s] discriminatory animus toward the plain-
tiff and the defendant’s termination of her employment,
no inference of the defendant’s discriminatory intent
can be made.” Feliciano v. Autozone, Inc., 316 Conn.
65, 80, 111 A.3d 453 (2015).

As to the first Chambers factor, the defendant repre-
sents that Cifuentes was the only agent of the defendant
who interacted with the plaintiff and did so in a profes-
sional manner. In his affidavit, Cifuentes attested that he
informed the plaintiff of the complaints he had received
regarding the plaintiff’s preferential treatment of
Agosto, that the plaintiff needed to treat all members
of the crew equally, and that it was his responsibility
to keep Agosto focused on work and to minimize his
interactions with tenants. There are no religious refer-
ences in Cifuentes’ interaction with the plaintiff. In
objecting to the motion for summary judgment, the
plaintiff did not take issue with Cifuentes’ affidavit or
otherwise produce countervailing facts. The plaintiff
also did not take issue with Cifuentes’ description of
the June 14, 2012 meeting with the plaintiff and Agosto
together and when Cifuentes gave Agosto a written
warning. Even if, as the plaintiff claims, Cifuentes told
Agosto not to talk to residents about religion, that
admonishment is in keeping with the defendant’s policy
that employees limit their interaction with residents
during working time. Analysis of this factor does not
tip in the plaintiff’s favor.

The second Chambers factor is whether the defen-
dant treated employees who are not members of the
plaintiff’s protected group more favorably. The plaintiff
presented no evidence that the defendant treated others
more favorably than it treated the plaintiff or Agosto.
It was the plaintiff who gave Agosto more favorable
treatment than other members of the cleaning crew he
supervised. This factor weighs against the plaintiff.
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As to the sequence of events leading to the plaintiff’s
employment termination, Cifuentes made the decision
to fire him on June 26, 2012, two weeks after Cifuentes
met with the plaintiff and Agosto to discuss their defi-
cient performances. Cifuentes made the decision to fire
them after he heard from Hagan that residents had
reported that the names of residents were read in
church, and that the plaintiff was telling tenants that
the “office doesn’t do anything, and that’s why nothing
gets done.” Hagan requested that the defendant remove
the plaintiff and Agosto from the apartments and not
place them at any location managed by WinnResiden-
tial. On June 26, 2012, Cifuentes clarified with Hagan
that he should replace the men as soon as qualified
employees were found.

The plaintiff’s assertion that Cifuentes’ conduct when
he fired him and Agosto raised an inference of discrimi-
nation is unsupported by the record. “A mere assertion
of fact in the affidavit of the party opposing summary
judgment is not enough to establish the existence of a
material fact that, by itself, defeats a claim for summary
judgment.” Campbell v. Plymouth, 74 Conn. App. 67,
83, 811 A.2d 243 (2002). In his affidavit, Cifuentes stated
that he met with the plaintiff and Agosto on August 3,
2012, “and told them that they were terminated due to
ongoing conduct and performance issues.” By contrast,
the plaintiff stated that during the meeting “[w]hen I
referred to Mr. Agosto as ‘pastor’ during this meeting,
Mr. Cifuentes got immediately angry and immediately
removed me from my position as well.” Neither Agosto
nor the plaintiff referenced Cifuentes having gotten
angry in the employee’s remarks section of their August
3, 2012 warning records. This factor does not weigh in
favor of an inference of a discriminatory motive.

Finally, the defendant argues that the “same-actor
inference” negates any inference of discrimination
because Cifuentes hired and fired Agosto within a short
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period of time. “[W]here the person who made the deci-
sion to fire was the same person who made the decision
to hire, it is difficult to impute to her an invidious moti-
vation that would be inconsistent with the decision to
hire.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) Schnabel v.
Abramson, 232 F.3d 83, 91 (2d Cir. 2000). “The premise
underlying this inference is that if the person who fires
an employee is the same person that hired him, one
cannot logically impute to that person an invidious
intent to discriminate against the employee. Such an
inference is strong where the time elapsed between the
events of hiring and firing is brief. . . . [T]he same-
actor inference is permissive, not mandatory, [but] it
applies with greatest force where the act of hiring and
firing are not significantly separated in time . . . .”
(Citations omitted; internal quotation marks omitted.)
Saliga v. Chemtura Corp., Docket No. 12-cv-832 (VAB),
2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 133135, *26 (D. Conn. October 1,
2015). At the time Cifuentes hired Agosto, he knew of
his religion and relationship to the plaintiff. He hired
and fired Agosto within approximately five months.
What happened in the interim is that Cifuentes received
reports from WinnResidential personnel that the plain-
tiff gave Agosto preferential treatment on the cleaning
crew, provided him with confidential information about
tenants from the apartment office, and talked negatively
about WinnResidential. The defendant argues that these
are reasons not to draw an inference of religious dis-
crimination on the defendant’s part when it terminated
the plaintiff’s employment.

We find the defendant’s analysis of the underlying
facts and Chambers analysis persuasive that the trial
court properly determined that there were no genuine
issues of material fact that the defendant harbored bias
or a discriminatory intent on the basis of the plaintiff’s
religion. We emphasize the fact that the defendant hired
the plaintiff as a cleaner/porter in 2010 and promoted



October 16, 2018 CONNECTICUT LAW JOURNAL Page 67A

185 Conn. App. 425 OCTOBER, 2018 453

Martinez v. Premier Maintenance, Inc.

him to acting crew supervisor in 2011. The plaintiff has
not pointed to any facts by which one could infer that
the defendant discriminated against him on the basis
of his religion and church membership prior to the
hiring of Agosto, the plaintiff’s pastor. The defendant’s
complaints about the plaintiff's performance arose
when he gave Agosto preferential treatment at the
expense of other members of the cleaning crew and
permitted Agosto to interact with tenants during work-
ing hours. For all of the foregoing reasons, the plaintiff’s
claim fails.

I

The plaintiff’s third claim is that the court improperly
granted summary judgment on his retaliation claim
because the defendant failed to meet its burden to show
that there were no genuine issues of material fact as
to whether the plaintiff engaged in a protected activity.
We disagree.

In count two of his second revised complaint, the
plaintiff alleged that the defendant retaliated against
him in violation of § 46a-60 (a) (4). In count two the
plaintiff realleged his claims of employment discrimina-
tion and, among other things, that he held a bona fide
religious belief and was chaplain at the Tabernacle of
Reunion Church where Agosto was the pastor. He
alleged that the defendant’s agents were aware of his
religious beliefs and relationships and discriminated
against him on the basis of his religion and “retaliated
against [him] by discharging him for practicing his reli-
gious beliefs as more fully” alleged in his complaint.

Section 46a-60 (a) provides in relevant part: “It shall
be a discriminatory practice in violation of this section
... @ [flor any . . . employer . . . to discharge

or otherwise discriminate against any person
because such person has opposed any discriminatory
employment practice or because such person has filed
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a complaint or testified or assisted in any proceeding
under section 46a-82, 46a-83 or 46a-84 . . . .”

The trial court found that the plaintiff alleged that
he had engaged in protected activity when he openly
called Agosto “pastor” in Cifuentes’ presence. The court
concluded that the use of the term “pastor” in defiance
of the defendant’s request that he not do so at work is
neither a formal nor informal protest of discrimination,
but rather a continuation of a behavior that the defen-
dant advised the plaintiff against. The plaintiff’s actions,
therefore, do not fall under the category of activity
protected by § 46a-60 (a) (4), and he failed to establish
a prima facie case of retaliation under the act.

A prima facie case of retaliation requires a plaintiff
to show (1) that he or she participated in a protected
activity that was known to the defendant, (2) an employ-
ment action that disadvantaged the plaintiff, and (3) a
causal relation between the protected activity and the
disadvantageous employment action. See Hebrew
Home & Hospital, Inc. v. Brewer, 92 Conn. App. 762,
770, 886 A.2d 1248 (2005). “The term protected activity
refers to action taken to protest or oppose statutorily
prohibited discrimination.” (Internal quotation marks
omitted.) Jarrell v. Hospital for Special Care, 626 Fed.
Appx. 308, 311 (2d Cir. 2015). “The law protects employ-
ees in the filing of formal charges of discrimination as
well as in the making of informal protests of discrimina-
tion, including making complaints to management, writ-
ing critical letters to customers, protesting against
discrimination by industry or society in general, and
expressing support of coworkers who have filed formal
charges.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) Matima
v. Cellz, 228 F.3d 68, 78-79 (2d Cir. 2000).

On appeal, the plaintiff claims that he alleged that
he participated in a protected activity by continuing to
refer to Agosto as “pastor” despite having been told
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that he should not do so while the two were working.
The plaintiff, however, did not allege that he partici-
pated in a protected activity by formally or informally
protesting the defendant’s alleged religious discrimi-
nation.

As previously stated, Practice Book § 17-49 provides
that summary judgment “shall be rendered forthwith if
the pleadings, affidavits and any other proof submitted
show that there is no genuine issue as to any material
fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as
amatter of law.” (Emphasis added.) “[I]t [is] incumbent
upon the party opposing summary judgment to establish
a factual predicate from which it can be determined,
as a matter of law, that a genuine issue of material fact
exists.” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) Dinnis v.
Roberts, 35 Conn. App. 253, 260, 644 A.2d 971, cert.
denied, 231 Conn. 924, 648 A.2d 162 (1994). “[M]aterial
facts are those that will make a difference in the case,
and they must be pleaded.” McCann Real Equities
Series XXII, LLC v. David McDermott Chevrolet, Inc.,
93 Conn. App. 486, 511, 890 A.2d 140, cert. denied,
277 Conn. 928, 895 A.2d 798 (2006). “The purpose of a
complaint . . . is to limit the issues at trial, and it is
calculated to prevent surprise. . . . It must provide
adequate notice of the facts claimed and the issues to
be tried.” (Citation omitted; internal quotation marks
omitted.) New Milford Savings Bankv. Roina, 38 Conn.
App. 240, 244, 659 A.2d 1226, cert. denied, 235 Conn.
915, 665 A.2d 609 (1995). Even a generous reading of
the plaintiff’s allegations of retaliation do not put the
defendant or the court on notice that he engaged in a
protected activity under § 46a-60 (a) (4). We agree with
the trial court that the facts alleged by the plaintiff
in his retaliation claim do not rise to the level of a
protected activity.

Moreover, the plaintiff failed to raise a genuine issue
of material fact. The plaintiff acknowledges that he did
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not formally protest the defendant’s telling him not
to refer to Agosto as “pastor.” He claims on appeal,
however, that his reference to Agosto as “pastor” at
the time Cifuentes fired Agosto constituted an informal
complaint. The plaintiff, however, did not document
his protest in the employee’s remarks section of the
employee warning record. He also did not attest to
lodging an informal protest in his affidavit filed in oppo-
sition to the defendant’s motion for summary judgment.

“[A] party may not rely on mere speculation or conjec-
ture as to the true nature of the facts to overcome a
motion for summary judgment. . . . A party opposing
a motion for summary judgment must substantiate its
adverse claim by showing that there is a genuine issue
of material fact together with the evidence disclosing
the existence of such an issue.” (Citation omitted; inter-
nal quotation marks omitted.) Altfeter v. Naugatuck,
supra, 53 Conn. App. 801. Because he did not allege
that he had engaged in a protected activity or present
evidence that he formally or informally protested the
defendant’s alleged religious discrimination, his claim
on appeal fails. The court, therefore, properly granted
summary judgment on count two of the second
revised complaint.'

The judgment is affirmed.

In this opinion the other judges concurred.

10To be clear, the resolution of the religious discrimination claim in this
case is limited to the alleged facts. The plaintiff’s claim does not turn on
the use of religious titles and honorifics in the workplace, and we offer no
opinion in that regard.
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The plaintiff appealed to the trial court from the decision of the defendant
Connecticut State Employees Retirement Commission denying her claim
for certain spousal retirement benefits pursuant to the State Employees
Retirement Act (§ 5-152 et seq.). The plaintiff’s husband, W, a former
state employee, had elected a retirement benefit option that reduced
his retirement benefits during his lifetime and provided spousal benefits
to his surviving spouse after his death. At the time of his retirement, W
was married to his first wife. Following his divorce from his first wife
but before he had married the plaintiff, W attempted to change the
beneficiary of his surviving spouse benefits, but he was informed that
he could not do so. Thereafter, W and the plaintiff were married and
remained so until W’s death, after which the plaintiff contacted the
retirement services division of the Office of the State Comptroller to
discuss her claim that she was entitled to receive spousal retirement
benefits. The assistant director of the division sent the plaintiff a letter
that advised her that the letter was an administrative denial of her
request for spousal benefits and informed her of her right to make a
written claim to the commission requesting review of the administrative
denial. In response, the plaintiff made a written request for review and
for a full hearing before the commission but did not receive a response.
The plaintiff then appealed to the trial court, and the commission filed
a motion to dismiss on the ground that the court lacked subject matter
jurisdiction because the plaintiff failed to exhaust her administrative
remedies. During the hearing on the motion to dismiss, the commission
expressed a willingness to reach a final decision in the case by waiving
the fifth step of its administrative process but asked that the plaintiff
complete the fourth step by requesting reconsideration of the denial of
her claim for benefits. Relying on the commission’s representation, the
trial court ordered that the case be remanded to the commission for a
hearing and a final decision on the plaintiff’s claim, and it retained
jurisdiction over the matter. Thereafter, the commission held an informal
hearing, denied the plaintiff’s request for reconsideration and indicated
in a letter to the plaintiff that the act did not allow for a change in
election or beneficiary after benefits had been provided to a member.
Following the reinstatement of the plaintiff’'s appeal, the court, sua
sponte, questioned its subject matter jurisdiction over the matter and
ordered supplemental briefing. Thereafter, the court rendered judgment



Page 72A

CONNECTICUT LAW JOURNAL October 16, 2018

458 OCTOBER, 2018 185 Conn. App. 457

Walenski v. Connecticut State Employees Retirement Commission

dismissing the appeal, concluding that it lacked subject matter jurisdic-
tion because the plaintiff had not appealed from a final decision and
had failed to exhaust her administrative remedies. On the plaintiff’s
appeal to this court, hkeld:

1. The plaintiff could not prevail on her claim that the trial court had subject
matter jurisdiction over her appeal because the commission agreed that
the court had jurisdiction and because the court’s order remanding the
case to the commission and its decision to exercise jurisdiction over
the appeal at that time constituted the law of the case; it is well settled
that parties cannot, by waiver or agreement, confer subject matter juris-
diction on the court, and, under the law of the case doctrine, one judge
of the Superior Court is not bound by a prior judge’s decision regarding
the court’s subject matter jurisdiction.

2. The plaintiff’s claim that the dismissal of her appeal was improper because
she appealed from a final decision by an administrative agency in accor-
dance with the applicable statute (§ 4-166 [5] [A] and [C]) was unavailing,
as the plaintiff did not possess a statutory or regulatory right to have
the commission decide her rights or privileges in a hearing and, thus,
did not appeal from an agency determination in a contested case, which
is a proceeding in which the legal rights, duties or privileges of a party
are required by statute or regulation to be determined by an agency
after an opportunity for a hearing; even if this court assumed that the
plaintiff’s legal rights or privileges were at issue before the commission,
neither the governing statutes nor the applicable regulations required
the commission to hold a hearing to determine her rights or privileges in
a hearing, and neither the letter the plaintiff received from the division’s
assistant director notifying her that her request for spousal benefits had
been administratively denied, nor the commission’s denial of her claim
following the trial court’s remand order were agency determinations in
a contested case as defined by the act, and the fact that a hearing was
in fact held before the commission did not render the plaintiff’s appeal
as having been taken from a final decision under the act.

Argued May 16—officially released October 16, 2018
Procedural History

Appeal from the decision by the named defendant
denying the plaintiff’s claim for certain survivor bene-
fits, and for other relief, brought to the Superior Court
in the judicial district of New Britain, where the court,
Schuman, J., granted in part the defendants’ motions to
dismiss; thereafter, the court, Huddleston, J., rendered
judgment dismissing the appeal, from which the plain-
tiff appealed to this court. Affirmed.
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Opinion

LAVINE, J. The sole issue in this appeal is whether
the trial court properly dismissed the administrative
appeal filed by the plaintiff, Carol Walenski, for lack of
subject matter jurisdiction due to her failure to obtain
a final decision from, or to otherwise exhaust her
administrative remedies with, the named defendant, the
Connecticut State Employees Retirement Commission
(commission).! On appeal, the plaintiff claims that the
trial court, Huddleston, J., improperly dismissed her
appeal because (1) the commission and a prior judge
of the Superior Court concluded that the court had
subject matter jurisdiction, and (2) she appealed from
a final decision by an administrative agency pursuant
to General Statutes § 4-166 (5) (A) and (C).? We affirm
the judgment of the trial court.

The present appeal involves a rather tangled proce-
dural history that arose when the plaintiff, the second
wife of a former state employee, Walter Walenski (Wal-
ter), was denied certain spousal retirement benefits in
accordance with the State Employees Retirement Act
(act), General Statutes § 5-152 et seq. At the root of
the appeal was Walter’s decision to elect a retirement

!'The state of Connecticut, the Connecticut state comptroller and Arlene
M. Walenski also were named as defendants.
1t is undisputed that the commission is an “agency” under § 4-166 (1).
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benefit option that reduced his retirement benefits dur-
ing his lifetime and provided spousal benefits to his
surviving spouse after his death. See General Statutes
§ 5-165 (a).

The trial court’s memorandum of decision and the
record reveal the following undisputed facts and proce-
dural history that are relevant to this appeal. Walter
retired from state employment in 1989. At the time he
retired, Walter was married to his first wife the defen-
dant Arlene M. Walenski (Arlene).? On September 30,
1997, Walter and Arlene divorced and, in their separa-
tion agreement, agreed that each of them would retain
his or her own pension free and clear of any claims
from the other. In 1997, sometime after he was divorced
from Arlene, but before he married the plaintiff, Walter
attempted to change the beneficiary of his surviving
spouse benefits. He was informed that he could not do
so. On April 18, 1998, approximately seven months after
he was divorced from Arlene, Walter married the plain-
tiff. Walter and the plaintiff remained married until Wal-
ter passed away on May 20, 2015.

The plaintiff subsequently contacted the retirement
services division of the Office of the State Comptroller
(retirement services) after Walter’s death to discuss
receiving spousal retirement benefits.* Cindy Wilson, a
representative of retirement services, sent the plaintiff
a letter, dated June 4, 2015, indicating that she was
“entitled to receive 50 [percent] of [Walter’s retirement]
benefits . . . .” After the plaintiff received this corre-
spondence, however, another representative from

3 Walter and Arlene were married on July 4, 1959.

4 Pursuant to the act, the commission is an independent entity within
retirement services that administers the state employees retirement system.
See General Statutes § 5-155a (a) (“[t]he State Employee Retirement Com-
mission shall be within the Retirement Division of the office of the Comptrol-
ler for administrative purposes only”); see also General Statutes § 5-155a
(c) (“[t]he [State Employees] Retirement Commission shall administer this
retirement system”).
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retirement services verbally told her that the informa-
tion in the letter she received from Wilson was incorrect
and that her application for benefits was denied. In a
follow up letter, dated July 14, 2015, Bonnie Price, the
assistant director of retirement services, “advised [the
plaintiff] that [the letter was] an administrative denial
[of her request for spousal benefits]” and informed her
that she “[had] the right to make a written claim to the
[commission] requesting review of [the] administrative
denial.”® Thereafter, on July 30, 2015, the plaintiff made
a written request for review and for a full hearing
“before the commission to exhaust available remedies

. . .” She did not receive a response to her July 30,
2015 letter.

On March 31, 2016, the plaintiff commenced the
underlying action and, in an amended complaint,
alleged four counts: (1) an administrative appeal from
the commission pursuant to General Statutes § 4-183;
(2) breach of an agreement; (3) various common-law
claims against Arlene; and (4) a request for declaratory
judgment.® On May 20, 2016, the commission filed a
motion to dismiss. The commission argued, among
other grounds, that the court lacked subject matter

5 The July 14, 2015 letter stated in relevant part: “Please be advised that
this is an administrative denial for the reasons noted below:

“[1] Pursuant to [§ 5-165] an election or change of election must be filed
before retirement payments [begin].

“[2] Specifically, in the event of remarriage after retirement, Option ‘A’
is not transferable to the new spouse and the retiree continues to receive
the reduced retirement allowance. The benefit is based on the age of the
retiree and spouse at the time of election.

“[3] Additionally, the State Employees Retirement System (SERS) Plan
rules are not subject to subsequent divorce judgments.

“Notwithstanding the information contained herein, you have the right
to make a written claim to the [commission] requesting review of our admin-
istrative denial.”

% The first, second, and fourth counts of her amended complaint were
each directed against the commission, the state comptroller, and the state
of Connecticut. See footnote 1 of this opinion.
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jurisdiction over the claims alleged against it because
the plaintiff failed to exhaust her administrative reme-
dies. According to the commission, the plaintiff failed
to exhaust its “five-step administrative process.”” On
June 22, 2016, the defendant state of Connecticut and
the defendant Connecticut state comptroller filed a joint
motion to dismiss. See footnotes 1 and 6 of this opinion.
Among other grounds, they, too, argued that the court
lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the counts
directed against them because the plaintiff failed to
exhaust her administrative remedies. The plaintiff
opposed the motions to dismiss.

Notwithstanding the arguments regarding the plain-
tiff’s alleged failure to exhaust her administrative reme-
dies, during a hearing on the motions to dismiss, the
commission “expressed a willingness to reach a final
decision in [the] case by October 20, 2016.” More specifi-
cally, the commission indicated that it would “waive
the fifth step of its administrative process’—i.e., a
declaratory ruling—in an effort to avoid further delay,
but asked that the plaintiff obtain a “final decision”
from the commission by requesting reconsideration
(step four of administrative process). See footnote 7 of

"The five step administrative process is as follows: (1) a final agency
decision from retirement services; (2) review of a claimant’s appeal by a
subcommittee within the commission, which makes a recommendation to
the full commission; (3) the full commission’s review of the subcommittee’s
recommendation, which the full commission will decide to accept or reject;
(4) reconsideration of the commission’s decision in one of two ways, either
(a) reconsideration based upon the record and information before the com-
mission or (b) a hearing in front of the full commission; and (5) a petition
for a declaratory ruling, with “the declaratory ruling itself [being] considered
the final decision of the commission for purposes of appeal to [the] Supe-
rior Court.”

On July 20, 2016, prior to the commission filing its motion to dismiss,
the subcommittee on purchase of service related matters—a subcommittee
within the commission—reviewed the plaintiff’s request for spousal benefits
and recommended denying her request (step two of administrative process).
The commission approved the subcommittee’s recommendation on August
18, 2015 (step three of administrative process).
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this opinion. Relying on the commission’s representa-
tion, the court, Schuman, J., remanded count one—
the administrative appeal—to the commission. Judge
Schuman’s September 1, 2016 order addressing the
motions to dismiss provided in relevant part: “[T]he
court remands count one to the full commission to hear,
decide, and reach a final decision on the plaintiff’s claim
by October 20, 2016. The court retains jurisdiction. In
the event of a commission decision adverse to the plain-
tiff, the plaintiff may return to court by motion to rein-
state the appeal.” The court dismissed counts two and
four of the amended complaint due to a lack of subject
matter jurisdiction; it stayed count three.

On September 15, 2016, in response to Judge Shu-
man’s order, the plaintiff filed a substitute complaint
(operative complaint). The operative complaint
sounded in two counts: (1) an administrative appeal
from the commission pursuant to § 4-183 and (2) a sin-
gle count directed against Arlene, which alleged various
common-law claims.

On October 20, 2016, the commission held an informal
hearing and denied what it considered “[the plaintiff’s]
request for reconsideration of [retirement services’]
denial of a spousal benefit.” The commission further
indicated in a letter, also dated October 20, 2016, that
it “agree[d] that [§] 5-165 (a) does not allow for a change
in election or beneficiary after benefits have been pro-
vided to the member.” On October 27, 2016, the plaintiff
filed a motion to reinstate the appeal in the Superior
Court, which Judge Huddleston granted absent
objection.

8 With respect to count three of the amended complaint, which was
directed against Arlene, the court noted that it could not adjudicate that
count until the commission made a final ruling on the distribution of Walter’s
retirement benefits. Thus, the court stayed count three pending disposition
of count one.
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Following the reinstatement of the plaintiff’s appeal,
a dispute arose between the parties regarding the
proper record before the court. During oral argument
addressing the parties’ dispute about the record, Judge
Huddleston, sua sponte, questioned the court’s subject
matter jurisdiction. The court ordered supplemental
briefing, and in their memoranda of law, both the plain-
tiff and the commission argued that the court had sub-
ject matter jurisdiction.’ The plaintiff relied primarily
on Judge Schuman’s September 1, 2016 order and con-
tended that the hearing before the commission on Octo-
ber 20, 2016, was a contested case under § 4-166 (4)
and (5). The commission argued that it was futile to
remand the case to it and that it had waived the fifth
step of its usual administrative procedure. Relying prin-
cipally on Derwin v. State Employees Retirement Com-
mission, 234 Conn. 411, 661 A.2d 1025 (1995), and
Ahern v. State Employees Retirement Commission, 48
Conn. App. 482, 710 A.2d 1366, cert. denied, 245 Conn.
911, 718 A.2d 16 (1998), Judge Huddleston disagreed,
concluding that the plaintiff had not appealed from a
“final decision”; see General Statutes § 4-166 (5); and
had failed to exhaust her administrative remedies. See
General Statutes § 4-183 (a). This appeal followed."

We begin by setting forth the principles of law govern-
ing our standard of review. “In an appeal from the
granting of a motion to dismiss on the ground of subject
matter jurisdiction, this court’s review is plenary. A
determination regarding a trial court’s subject matter
jurisdiction is a question of law. When . . . the trial
court draws conclusions of law, our review is plenary
and we must decide whether its conclusions are legally

 The state, the comptroller, and Arlene did not file memoranda of law
regarding the court’s subject matter jurisdiction.

10 Following the court’s dismissal of the administrative appeal, the court,
in response to a motion filed by the plaintiff, transferred the remaining
count of the operative complaint against Arlene to the regular civil division
of the Superior Court.
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and logically correct and find support in the facts that
appear in the record. . . . It is a familiar principle that
a court which exercises a limited and statutory jurisdic-
tion is without jurisdiction to act unless it does so under
the precise circumstances and in the manner particu-
larly prescribed by the enabling legislation.” (Internal
quotation marks omitted.) Berka v. Middletown, 181
Conn. App. 159, 163, 185 A.3d 596, cert. denied, 328
Conn. 939, 184 A.3d 268 (2018).

“When a . . . court decides a jurisdictional question
raised by a pretrial motion to dismiss, it must consider
the allegations of the complaint in their most favorable
light. . . . In this regard, a court must take the facts
to be those alleged in the complaint, including those
facts necessarily implied from the allegations, constru-
ing them in a manner most favorable to the pleader.

. . . The motion to dismiss . . . admits all facts which
are well pleaded, invokes the existing record and must
be decided upon that alone. . . . In undertaking this

review, we are mindful of the well established notion
that, in determining whether a court has subject matter
jurisdiction, every presumption favoring jurisdiction
should be indulged.” (Internal quotation marks omit-
ted.) Cuozzo v. Orange, 315 Conn. 606, 614, 109 A.3d
903 (2015).

We quickly can dispose of the plaintiff’s first claim
on appeal. She first argues that the court had subject
matter jurisdiction over her appeal because the commis-
sion, in response to Judge Huddleston’s supplemental
briefing order, agreed that the court had jurisdiction.
Second, she argues that Judge Schuman’s September
1, 2016 order, and his decision to exercise jurisdiction
over the appeal, constituted the “law of the case.” As
to the first argument, it is well settled that parties can-
not, by waiver or agreement, confer subject matter juris-
diction on the court. See Kileen Energy Systems, LLC v.
Commissioner of Energy & Environmental Protection,
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319 Conn. 367, 380-81, 125 A.3d 905 (2015). As to the
second argument, one judge of the Superior Court,
under the law of the case doctrine, is not bound by
a prior judge’s decision regarding the court’s subject
matter jurisdiction.! See Lewis v. Gaming Policy
Board, 224 Conn. 693, 698-99, 620 A.2d 780 (1993).
Accordingly, we are unpersuaded by the plaintiff’s con-
tention that Judge Huddleston improperly determined
that the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over
her administrative appeal due to the commission’s
agreement that the court had subject matter jurisdiction
or on the basis of Judge Schuman’s order of September
1, 2016.

We now turn to the plaintiff’s remaining claim on
appeal, namely, that she appealed from a final decision
by an administrative agency pursuant to § 4-166 (5) (A)
and (C).22 It is well settled that “[t]here is no absolute

1 Judge Schuman’s September 1, 2016 order did not expressly conclude
that the court had subject matter jurisdiction. Nonetheless, insofar as his
order directed the commission to “reach a final decision” on the plaintiff’s
claim regarding her entitlement to spousal retirement benefits, the court
asserted jurisdiction over the plaintiff’s administrative appeal.

The commission argues, as an alternative ground to affirm, that the trial
court lacked jurisdiction on September 1, 2016, because, at that point, the
plaintiff had failed to exhaust her administrative remedies. We acknowledge
this argument and question whether the trial court had jurisdiction to enter
its September 1, 2016 order. Given the procedural irregularities of the present
case and because the alternative ground to affirm does not affect the out-
come of this appeal, we decide whether the trial court lacked subject matter
jurisdiction as framed by the plaintiff’s arguments on appeal.

2 The plaintiff does not claim that she has appealed from a declaratory
ruling issued by an agency pursuant to General Statutes § 4-176. See General
Statutes § 4-166 (5) (B). We therefore do not address whether the plaintiff has
appealed from such a ruling. Nonetheless, in Akern, Judge Lavery observed
in his concurring opinion that “it appears that the only way to get a ‘final
decision’ from the . . . commission that is appealable to the Superior Court
is by seeking a declaratory judgment pursuant to § 4-176 (a).” Ahern v. State
Employees Retirement Commission, supra, 48 Conn. App. 492 n.2 (Lavery,
J., concurring); see also LoPresto v. State Employees Retirement Commsis-
sion, 234 Conn. 424, 432 n.15, 662 A.2d 738 (1995) (“[t]he commission’s
declaratory ruling [pursuant to § 4-176 (a)] constituted a ‘final decision’ for
purposes of appeal under § 4-183”).
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right of appeal to the courts from a decision of an
administrative agency. . . . The [Uniform Administra-
tive Procedure Act (UAPA), General Statutes § 4-166 et
seq.] grants the Superior Court jurisdiction over appeals
of agency decisions only in certain limited and well
delineated circumstances. . . . Judicial review of an
administrative decision is governed by . . . § 4-183 (a)
of the UAPA, which provides that [a] person who has
exhausted all administrative remedies . . . and who is
aggrieved by a final decision may appeal to the superior
court . . . .” (Internal quotation marks omitted.) Fer-
guson Mechanical Co. v. Dept. of Public Works, 282
Conn. 764, 771, 924 A.2d 846 (2007). “Accordingly,
[courts] have consistently held that the Superior Court
has jurisdiction only over appeals from a ‘final decision’
of an administrative agency.” Derwin v. State Employ-
ees Retirement Commission, supra, 234 Conn. 418.

Section 4-166 provides in relevant part: “As used in
this chapter. . . (5) ‘Fi